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ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
(1986 edition)

Many different sources have been used to compile this bdtitough
no complete history of Witney has been published since 1894, maplepeo
have been busy delving into various aspects of life ind¥va bver the past
centuries. D. Cross’s notes on articles of historingdrest in théVitney
Gazette as well as his own articles in the same newspaper iredHg
1960s, have proved a fruitful source of information. No-one atiam to
write a history of Witney would want to be without théuable and regular
contributions toRecord of Witneymade by its Editor, Stanley Jenkins.
Many other writers in that journal have provided ideas and riwdton,
especially Trevor Cooper.

Very special thanks go to Tom Worley, who has systeaidyi
gathered very nearly every known photograph and illustration itrieyy
and allowed us to plunder his collection without restraint.avd Mrs L.
Seely very generously lent us some drawings and other nhat¥eaalso
thank Arthur Titherington for help in the production of some lo¢ t
photographs. The friendly service of the Evenlode Press hadhelp
enormously in the production of the maps. Kate Steane, vévo ttie first
three maps and the detailed reconstruction of the BishopiseRaleserves
our special thanks.

The staff of the Oxfordshire Record Office, the Oxfordsifuseum
Services, the Oxfordshire Archaeological Unit and the Westgatal
History Library have all been most helpful. We would dike to thank the
staff of the Witney Library and the other local public litiea who took so
much trouble in helping to organise the first limited ediiti

Family records are of great importance in writingpeal history. Our
sincere thanks go to David Smith, Captain and Mrs SwaichaRl Early,
John Dossett-Davies, Richard Adams and Michael Drucehfmrioan of
family and business documents. We have also obtained usfefurhation
from Peter Davis, Ray Cripps, Arthur Bissell, R.W. Hasviemd Rev P.J.
Taylor. Many other people in Witney have given us ideasymmtion and
encouragement and we should like to thank them all.



We are grateful to Mr H. E. Green for allowing us tsitviHenry Box
School, to Alan Crawford for giving us permission to $eedrchives of
Early’s of Witney and to Mrs Jean Grace for her invaludielp during
our visit. We thank John Kempton for his patience and gskilbrioof-
reading: any mistakes are ours and not his.

Our formal thanks for permission to reproduce copyrigaterial go
to the Bodleian Library, the Ashmolean Museum, the Britibinary, the
Oxfordshire County Library services and tBrford Malil.

FORWORD TO THE 1986 EDITION
By R. E. Early, Master Weaver of Witney

Like some others among the present fifteen thousand inhabitants of
Witney, | can trace our family history in the town baokne hundreds of
years. We have, therefore, good reason to be gratetud uthors o he
Book of Witneyfor the wide-ranging history that follows. Almost as
interested will be the newcomers. There must be a largder of these.
When | was a boy there were not many more than three thousamd
women and children within our boundaries - and, in generaliliésm
seventy-five years ago were larger than they are now!

This book emphasises what the Town owes to the ChurchADIn
1044 King Edward the Confessor granted Royal land at Wytteoige t
Alfwine, Bishop of Winchester, whose immediate succestigai®d built
the Palace, above the foundations of which several fanofiddanket
makers have recently made their homes. | suppose it is bexfehlaakets
that Witney is chiefly known throughout the world. | havereason to
disagree with Joan and Charles Gott when they statebyh&D 1278
three hundred and seventy sheep were kept on land at Witnegd dwy
the then Bishop of Winchester, and that by the fourteemtuge this
number had increased to nearly fifteen hundred. Thuueaged,
clothmaking in Witney by hand and water increased uniil,
comparatively modern times, the Industrial Revolution took over and
‘stocks’, ‘power looms’, ‘gigs’ and then ‘fiberweavers’ rgantroduced.

As the authors do not bring us quite up to date, perhaps adthghat
the chief trades and crafts of Witney continue to derirength from the
many other worth-while endeavors by Witney folk describadigbook.

chand ?gcm_ﬂf‘ "\r"ffk-ﬂjr
Maiker Yeowen, 257 Jq,a] (9 %6.



PREFACE TO THE 1986 EDITION

By Eileen Young, Mayor of Witney, 1984-1986

Witney has been described as ‘that sleepy little nidoken nestling
in the Cotswolds’. Readers of this excellent, compreherigstery of
the town compiled by Charles and Joan Gott will soohsegust how
inaccurate the adjective ‘sleepy’ is.

Names from the past will come alive in each chapter aautiers
take us from the Bronze Age through to the 20th century feandng
embellished their text with many illustrations, give us aretord and
insight into the past.

The town of Witney has long been famous for its manufectdir
blankets. The section on Industry and Commerce shows how the town
can and has produced a lot more besides, proving the batnption
on the Town Crest, ‘Ingenio Floremus’ - by our industry werfish - to
be most apt.

Whilst 1 was Mayor of Witney | realised how forward-loongi
Witneans of the past and present have been. Charles amdk Jo
delightful book proves the town has a firm foundation for its
townspeople to build a bright and optimistic future.

FOREWORD TO THE NEW BOOK OF WITNEY

It is now twenty one years since the first edition of the Bobk
Witney was published, and thirteen since the Revised Edittbith is
now out of print. The present edition has been largely reftteth, and
many of the illustrations have been changed to bring it up ® dat
touch of colour has been added, too. While working on itvieee
surprised at the number of changes those thirteen yeaesbinaught:
large new estates have been built on the outskirts of the tberast
blanket mill has closed down, and many new high-tech industares h
sprung up. Sadly, in spite of the planners’ efforts ovéedii years, the
road system has not yet caught up with the population increase
Ambitious new developments are planned, and work has alréadgds
on them: local historians of the future will find plenty ioteresting
material when they come to write the next history of thisfiam ‘old-
fashioned’ town.
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THE OLD-FASHIONED TOWN

There’s an old-fashioned house in an old-fashioned street
In a quaint little old-fashioned town.

There's a street where the cobblestones harasedhe f

As it struggles uphill and then down;

And though to and fro through the world | must go

My heart while it beats in my breast

Where’er | may roam, to that old-fashioned home

Will fly back like a bird to its nest.

In that old-fashioned house in that old-fashioned street
Dwell a dear little old-fashioned pair.

| can see their two faces so tender and sweet

And | love every wrinkle that's there.

| love every mouse in that old-fashioned house

In the street that runs uphill and down,

Each stone and each stick, ev'ry cobble and brick

In that quaint little old-fashioned town. Song written in 1914 by Ada

Leonora Harris (Reproducon by
kind permission of Paul E. Harris)

‘The oldfashioned hous
in West End where the old
fashioned pair Charles &
Maria Harris lived. The
were the uncle and aunt
Ada Leonora Harri:
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Topography of Witney. (KS)
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BEFORE THE SAXONS

Anyone searching for the earliest origins of the town om#jitis
forced to stop short at AD 969, for this is the date offits¢ known
written record of the name. It was the year when KingaEdggned a
charter granting some land at Wyttanige to a thegn c&@lelfhelm.
Later, in 1044, the name was spelt Wittannige, and in theeSday
Book (1086) it becomes Witenie.

The original town stands on the westerly side of the NVerdrush.
Over the centuries it has expanded to meet the settleméné @asterly
side, called Cogges, which is now part of the modern town itiey
Cogges, formerly spelt Coges and Cogas, has an interesiogytof its
own though, as in the case of Witney, it cannot be tracekl foaither
than the 10th century.

Local historian W.J. Monk, who published Hisstory of Witneyin
1894, suggested that the name could mean island of the Vditan,
council of Saxon chiefs. Although this is an attractive idiea,fact that
no significant Saxon remains have been found in Witney makes
unlikely. More recent historians lean towards Wittakahd - Witta, it is
assumed, being an important Saxon chieftain.

Why island, when the site seems firmly attached to lamdnost
sides? In fact, in Saxon times it really was virtualtyisland. The town
stands on a small rise overlooking the river Windrush. The rues
round two sides of this rise, and the other two sides dvhalve been
marshland in those days, making access difficult.

To the north of the site are the rolling Cotswold Hiliyich were
covered in woods in early times: some of the woodland stilanesmin
the form of the Wychwood Forest. To the south of Witneytlaeegravel
terraces of the Thames valley, well-drained, easilyivaied land that
must have been cleared of trees at an early stage, juiginghe large
number of Iron Age settlements to be found in the area.

Where the Windrush runs through the town, its bed is of mekjng
Witney an ideal place for a ford across the river. i® orth-east and
south-west of the town the river valley widens out, leaving/Afredrush
running sluggishly and deep over a clay bottom, without any suitable
places for fords.

In earlier times the river looked rather different from agd
peaceful, disciplined stream. Except where the valley waswaand
stony, it wandered through marshy ground which was floodedriter,
while in hot summers it would have shrunk to a trickl&e do not know
when the Windrush was first drained and took its presensepbut by
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Saxon times drainage work was well in hand, and twosmilere
situated on its banks. A new drainage ditch, which is probgbts
Ditch, had been dug by the year 1044.

There was probably a trackway running along the southern edge of
the Cotswold Hills from prehistoric times: part of itaa the old A40
road between Witney and Burford. This track would havesemghe
river Windrush near Witney.

The area round present-day Witney was well-settled frmrearliest
times. Many Neolithic long barrows are to be found inghaounding
country. Near Stanton Harcourt there was a Neolithic hemgaument,
known as the Devil's Quoits. It has now vanished as a resgtavel
workings and a wartime airfield. Bronze and Iron Age sitage been
found in the gravel terraces to the south of Witney butpadth it is
fairly certain that the region was well-populated foleatst 2000 years
before the coming of the Romans, no evidence has yet beeathade®

Iron Age sites around Witney. (KS)

prove that there was ever any Bronze or Iron Age occupafidhe
actual site of today’s town. It is true that a bronze dagge found near
Em's Ditch during the building of some new houses, but this find
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though interesting - does not prove that people lived there, thaly
someone dropped his dagger, perhaps while travelling through.

The Romans had a strong presence in the region, setting \grousm
villas within a few miles of Witney. The main one wad\airth Leigh,
three miles to the north of the town. The important RorAkaman
Street crosses the Windrush at Asthall, about four mjpetream.

The nearest Roman site is a burial ground discovered dtnang
construction of the Witney by-pass. So, in spite of alkigas of Roman
occupation in the area, there is no indication that there evar any
Roman settlement on the site of Witney itself. Howeaak bf evidence
does not necessarily mean that it did not exist: we jusbt&now.

Roman sites around Witney. (KS)
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The Bishop’s Palace, a painting after a pen and ink drawin@¢af#ibuted to
Nathanial Buck. (BL: Gough Maps, 26,f60). The position of tteeletvs has been
reversed from the original Buck drawing. (TW)

The Bishop’s Palace excavation under its protectivereuye(JQ
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THE WINCHESTER CONNECTION

During the tenth century, a period of considerable unkasty Edgar
divided up his large estate of Bampton, granting the nostieraportion
to one of his thegns, Oelfhelm, presumably in order to keepohiims
side. In the year 969 the King signed a charter confirming tfii®fga
large tract of land at Wyttannige. It was made up of 30 hielesugh
land to support 30 families. The land coincides with the moparishes
of Hailey, Crawley and Curbridge, as the charter showstndi all the
landmarks to be found round its perimeter.

‘These are the land boundaries of the 30 hides at Witney. First from
Hawk’s mound to the Windrush to the willow row to nut cliff; frowva t
cliff to high lea; from there to long lea road [the road to Langley]; along
the road then to chip-lea [a clearing where there are wood-chippings];
then to chip road; along the road where it runs to the north part of the
King’'s promontory; from there to marsh-clearing; along the clearing to
Hunter's Road; along the road to where it comes out at the dwelling-
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place; from there always along the lower side to Ofling acre; filoene

to the old road; along the road to Cyga'’s stone; from the stone to the
green road; along the road to Yccen’s field; from the field to the hedge-
row; along the hedge-row to metsinc [It has been impossible to find a
translation for this word. It could be the name of a stream]; along
metsinc to the upper part of Ecgerd’s hill; along the foot of thetdnithe
Windrush; along the Windrush to the east part of foul island; along the
boundary to Tidreding ford; from there to Occa’s slippery place; from
there to the southern part of Witta’s moor; from there to Collwedbg;

from the valley to the stone bridge; along the brook to the old road; from
the road to the boundary of the Hornings; from there to the southern
part of the bank; from there along the valley to Tyca’s pit; along the
brook to the mouth; from the mouth to Ceahha's pond; from there to the
little earth mound; from there to the camp to the highest points; fnem t
highest points to Kettle Spring; from the spring to the road; along the
road to Hawk's mound; from the mound again to nut cliff where it first
began.’

Many of the landmarks mentioned in the charter still existypend
most of the ways, like Hunter’s way, are present-dayipbtpaths.

When thegn Oelfhelm received his grant from the King, onlsnalls
settlement existed on the site of the present town. Noeaaotogical
traces have been found, but there are several reasohifong that its
focus was on Corn Street, where Duck Alley leads intodnuodts. Duck
Alley used to be part of a footpath, now blocked off, whéhfrom the
Windrush through the Abingdon and Witney College grounds and
across Corn Street. The river end of the footpath is tlearformer
Early’s blanket factory, and the first recorded name fimilaon this site
was Woodford Mill, showing that there was a ford near tike Rev Dr
J.H. Giles, in hidHistory of Witneysuggests that there was a north-south
Roman road. If this is so (and it must be admitted thatetis no
evidence), it would have formed a crossroads with Het-west route
from the Windrush at Cogges to Corn Street, or Corndelt, wasg first
recorded.

If Corn Street was indeed the centre of an early Saxtagejl there
would have been some form of church nearby. This couldhaek been
on the site of 45 Corn Street, a property belonging to tharitgh
Commissioners. There is no knowing how it became a charityepyop
as its first records only go back to 1640, though the donors dheall t
other charity properties of that date are known. Gileggests that there
was an ecclesiastical building on the land that had lorgg $ieen pulled
down. This may well be the site of the earliest chundiné town.

18



The last piece of evidence in the search for an eangrSsettlement
concerns an important change in ownership of the 30 hides &gy,
nearly 80 years after Oelfhelm received them. Evidently the lald h
reverted to Royal control for, in 1044, King Edward the Cades
signed a charter very like the earlier one, granting itlfwiAe, Bishop
of Winchester. From then onwards the Bishop and his successors
developed the town according to their own plans. It is nikety that
they built a new church and palace outside the existingraetile rather
than on top of it; and later, when they came to lay onew market
place, it would have been alongside the old settlement.

Edward the Confessor’'s mother was one of the witnesses gihedsi
the charter in 1044. She was Queen Emma, whose name is
commemorated in a modern Witney street name, though her Witk
the town are tantalisingly hard to trace. In their hisgof Witney both
Monk and Giles mention, with some scepticism, the ideaghathad
local connections.

The theory comes from two sources: firstly from the name&sk
Ditch, and secondly from the presence of her signature onhéuger.

The charter mentions as one of the boundary marks ay+oesviditch

which could have been part of Em’s Ditch. There is no evielémat this
landmark was ever called Emma’s Ditch: it was eithersEan’ Ham's.

The Queen's name certainly appears on the chartero lolat those of at
least ten members of the King’'s court, so not much itapoe can be
attached to that. However, the story of Queen Emmabkasme so
much a part of the folklore of Witney that it is wortioking at in some
detail.

She was a Norman princess who came over to England to marry
Ethelred the Unready, by whom she had two sons, Edward aretl Alf
After her husband’s death in 1016 the country was ruled by #me
under King Canute (1016-1035), who married the widowed Emma. Their
son Hardicanute reigned briefly after Canute’s death, iand042
Emma’s eldest son, whom we know as Edward the Confessoe, ttam
the throne. Emma’s place in national history must surelgdxure, for
she was married to two kings and mother to two others.

Legend has it that the Archbishop of Canterbury accusecrQue
Emma of undue intimacy with the Bishop of Winchester, whose
connection with Witney was well established under the charteprove
her innocence, the intrepid Queen is said to have volunteeredlergo
an ordeal of fire in Winchester Cathedral. Blindfolde svas made to
walk among nine red-hot ploughshares, but emerged triumphantly
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unhurt. To celebrate this public restoration of her honour, she gjae
manors to the Church of Winchester.

It is an intriguing story but a doubtful one, unsupported balykd
evidence, and made even more unlikely by the fact théteatime it
could have happened, the Queen was well over sixty yeartagdite
of the story’s lack of credibility, she is pleasantly eznbered in the
street called Queen Emma's Dyke. After all, we maxehe proof that
she ever visited the town - but proof that she stayed asvagually
lacking.

The next piece of evidence of Witney's beginnings is found én th
Domesday survey of 1086. That stated that Witney (or Witevas)still
held by the Bishop of Winchester. There were 30 hides (abyidais
time had become a unit of taxation rather than a meafweea), and
land for 23 ploughs. ‘...there is now in his lordship [thshBp's] 5
ploughs. There are 9 bondsmen, 36 townsmen, and 11 bordererg havin
20 ploughs. There are 2 mills of 32 shillings and 6 pence. Thd ®&00
leagues long and 2 leagues broad, 4 acres of meadow. IrEdimagrd’s
time the whole was valued at 22 pounds, now at 25 pounds.’

The bondsmen, townsmen and borderers mentioned in the Domesday
survey add up to 56 people so, if we assume that most of hiaem
families, it is probable that there was a population of aB8Qtpeople at
the time. The two mills were on the sites of Farm Mild &Vitney Mill.
They were more likely to have been corn than fullindlsmihe first
written evidence for fulling mills in England comes much laier1185,
when one is recorded on the Windrush, near Temple Guiting, and
another at Newsham in Yorkshire. It is not until 1223 teaords show
a fulling mill in Witney.

It was probably Stigand, Bishop of Winchester from 1047-1070, who
began the building of a palace next to the church. Archaeologica
evidence suggests that it consisted of a large, recengalar tower,
which served as private quarters for the owner, a halhastthpel. These
early buildings were constantly embellished and improved dnenéxt
century. A latrine block was added to the solar. A dgmiese and out-
buildings were constructed. The Bishop’s Pipe Rolls mentioailavith
a louvre (a dome-shaped opening in the roof to allow the srwke
escape), a chapel ‘next to a room of the monks’, a wardeokiechen, a
pantry, a store-room, a buttery, stable and cellar.

Sometime between 1135 and 1150, the period of the Civil War
between King Stephen and Matilda, it was found necessdoytify the
palace. This was done by piling earth round the outside walts the
first floor, which became the new ground floor: the grofloor became
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a cellar. The Bishop who ordered the fortification wasriiesi Blois,
Bishop of Winchester from 1129 until his death in 1171. He \was t
brother of King Stephen himself, and certainly the most poMveran in
England, if not in Europe. Henry of Blois was Stephen’s nmdktential
supporter in his struggle for the throne. He had hoped thagh&ie
would show his gratitude by appointing him Archbishop of Céirgr
when the position became vacant in 1139: he could thendrautated
his predecessor Bishop Stigand, who had held both sees. Stiamen
failed to grant his brother's wishes, Henry transferhesl loyalty to
Matilda. Given the complexity of his political life, i6 understandable
that Henry needed to fortify his palace - even if it west pne of many
residences. We do not know how often he visited it, or whetier t
fortifications were ever put to the test.

The next major - and exciting - development in Witney took place
under Peter des Roches, Bishop of Winchester (1205-1238). It was he
who laid out the town as it is today; he was a propertyldeee with a
good head for business. He set up a large triangular market-place
running northwards from the church, with long narrow plot¢aofl at
right angles. These narrow strips of land - called burgade phre still
the dividing lines between some present-day properties.

Before Witney was laid out as a market town, the mairerfsom the
north east crossed the Windrush near the old moated manse lab
Cogges, and followed Crown Lane (Langdale Gate) to theecehthe
town. When the new market place was set up, the approachwasad
changed to the present one, and a bridge was built over theushnain
the site of today’s two-arched structure.

The exact date of the laying-out of Witney's market is tiaoe but
a reference in the Bishop of Winchester's account folisthe year
1208-9, gives permission for licence to lease land for buildmgewly-
cleared ground. The second decade of the 13th century wasytiey he
of speculative development and across the Windrush at Cdgoesf
the manor Robert d’Arsic essayed a new settlement of 82atne
holdings. This is the area known today as Newland. The santglais
happening in Eynsham, where the Abbot of Eynsham Abbeyol#ic
new market at Newlands.

During the 13th century Witney must have been a prosperous place
We know that the cloth-making industry had already staftedyack in
1179 records show that a weaver was fined 6s 8d for selliegadnf
cloth, and in 1223 a fulling mill is recorded. The Bishop@¢aPe, with
its resident dignitaries, must have been an important alemethe
growth of the new town. There were even visits from royadltyat far
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from popular monarch, King John, came to Witney on severalsamts
between 1207 and 1214, probably from his palace at Woodstock or his
hunting lodge at Langley. These visits from the King and thédpis
with their retinues, must have been a powerful stimulldsdal trade. In
1221 the 14-year-old Henry Ill came to stay with Bishop Pdes
Roches in Witney, and spent the considerable sum of £20 oolotss
for the royal wardrobe. In 1231 the same King granted gt for a
second fair to be held in Witney: the first had been gramd®02. By
1220 the Borough was important enough to be assessed fon tax
own account, rather than as part of the manor, whichairexd
responsible for taxes on the farmland surrounding the Borough.

The Bishop encouraged people to move into his new town by
granting them certain privileges, including the right ® duit of toll,
passage money and murage (a tax levied for the building or repafri
the walls of a town).

By 1279 Witney consisted of over 300 messuages, or plots, and in
Hundred Rolls of that year the inquisition, as the inspsciere called,
found that there were 226 holders of messuages, 30 of them wanaen,
56 were wealthy enough to hold more than one messuage. Thistsugge
that, by the end of the 13th century, the population of Witney was
something more than a thousand inhabitants.

In 1250 the Bishop made some more improvements. He laid out a
deer park in the wood of Warfordsleigh on the hill oppositettmen:
this is to the west of what is now Windrush Valley Estair Smith’s
Estate, as many people call it, after the company thait get Henry 1l
sent an order to his keeper of Wychwood Forest to give t®igteop
‘20 acres of timber, 15 live does, and 5 live bucks to stoclpank at
Witney'. The park was surrounded by a stone wall. In the Bishop’
accounts there is an entry in 1285 for lime and stone td P81 perches
of park wall at the cost of £25 18s 5d.The park itself rapwias a
recognisable enclosure well into the 17th century. Todayeadl part of
the wall can be seen between the bicycle track and tha4fldto the
west of the town. The name Deer Park Road commemahatgsrk.

The second half of the 12th century brought a rapid expansion of
population. Settlements grew, and towns flourished. Witneg wo
exception. During the latter half of the 13th and the eantyqighe 14th
century it must have been a busy and thriving community, sgridio
burgesses to meet the Lords in Parliament at Westmihébavever, as
the main purpose of the Parliament was to vote the King mdhese
was little advantage to the townspeople. In 1360 the burgesseened
to be released from the privilege.
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The Hundred Rolls of 1278 say that Witney had a wealthy market
Thursdays and two fairs. It still has a Thursday mfwealthy or not),
though it no longer sells livestock. It is probable that same in the
13th century two more market places were laid out, o@omdell, now
called Corn Street, and the other at West End.

The name West End seems puzzling, as it is on the rasthsigle of
Witney: the explanation is that when it was named, theaasapart of
the parish of Hailey, not Witney.

In 1348 came catastrophe in the form of the Black Death, hwhic
raged through Europe and the British Isles. Up to @l tbf the local
population died of bubonic plague during 1348 and 1349.

The effects of the plague on the Bishop’s farming werendtia and
disastrous. He was no longer able to depend on serf laboaagpohis
harvest. The profit per acre fell from 2s 5d in the ybeafere 1349 to 3d
for the following five years. In 1348 the Bishop had 53 virgatenking
at harvest time: these workers were unpaid. In 1349 the muhalk
fallen to 21, and in 1353 only six were warking for him. Bxpenses of
running the estate went up from £25 in 1348 to £866 in 1352. After the
plague the Bishop leased out far more of his land, and atdtivfar less
for himself: the Black Death had brought an end to thddkesystem as
far as labour service was concerned, and it was now maratilecto
live off rents.

The Bishops of Winchester continued to have a connectidntingt
manor and the Borough until the middle of the nineteenttucg There
were two short periods when they lost control of the malDaring the
reign of Edward VI, when Bishop John Ponet, a Protestant Bighmo
had replaced the Catholic Bishop Gardiner, relinquishethhés to the
Crown in 1551, he received an annuity. This was a time whe@rthen
was making a determined effort to lay its hands on asrmaharch land
as possible. Sir Andrew Dudley, brother to the Duke of Nontherland,
was granted the manor and Borough of Witney. Dudley neasable to
enjoy the income from them for long, for in 1553 Mary cameh®® t
throne and the Catholic Bishop Gardiner was restored as Bishop
Winchester, though the lands were not returned until 1558 n@tinie
Commonwealth (1647) the Bishops again lost title to their astatel
William Lenthall, Speaker in the Long Parliament, becdond of the
manor. At the Restoration they once more regained theitesstFrom
the end of the 14th century much of the manorial land hadl leeeut to
yeoman families. The Brices leased the manor during thealftlearly
17th centuries. After the Restoration the lease passedafional family
to powerful lords. In 1670 Lord Cornbury was lessee, followgdhie
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Earl of Clarendon and then the Earl of Rochester.

The Duke of

Marlborough bought the lease in 1751 and purchased the mal®Ban
so bringing an end to the Winchester connection.
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Phases of building the palace (OAU)
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LEFT: The culvert leading to the moat at the bottom ofdlénes.These loos were
probably used by King John when he visited Witney between 120724dd
RIGHT: Part of the stonework looking as fresh as whevag built, though there is some
graffiti carved on it. (OAU)

Building which used to stand in Duck Alley, drawn by W. See218No 53 Corn
Street is on the corner of this alley
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Possible extent of Saxon settlemesrt
Possible extent of settlement in thd I2NtUry mm == == == -
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The Church with John Holloway's almshouses before they refwélt to the design
of William Wilkinson in 1868.

William Wilkinson’s 1868 Gothic style rebuilding of Hollowa almshouses. (CG)
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THE POOR ARE ALWAYS WITH US

Before the dissolution of monastic houses, the church had Hwne
main burden of looking after the poor and needy, whose numbezes w
high in times of bad harvests, high wheat prices or pladdter
dissolution, new systems of support had to be devised.

This support centred on the parish, which was required, d8rias
of Poor Laws at the end of the 16th century, to raiséesfoathe benefit
of the poor. This parish relief was supplemented by moneyedagiaed
by wealthy parishioners.

In Tudor times Witney, with its many prosperous wool mentda
was quite a wealthy place. In consequence the town wdsndowed
with charities for the relief of its poor.

The most important became known as the ‘Freeland Charity’
because its money was invested in land at Freeland in theh pafri
Eynsham. It is first recorded in 1652, though it is certaoiter than
that. In 1652, and again in 1682, commissions were set up torexam
the state of charities throughout the county, to seetliegt were being
properly administered, and that the money was used for thmogeir
intended by the testators.

When the Commissioners visited Witney in September 1682, they
found that £417 10s 0d had been left by various people foelat of
the poor: Richard Ashcombe of Curbridge £100; George Tomson of
Bampton £30; Stephen Brice £40; Thomas Sheppard of Bampton £8;
William Edgerley £10; Elizabeth Sharpe £2; Hugh Barker DD £30g°
Bolt of Oxford’ £5; A person unknown £1 10s; John Martin of Witney
Esq £5; Elizabeth Green of Shipton £16; Henry James ofe@ast20;
John Palmer of Bampton £50; Philip Box £30; ----Fifield £20 and
Edward Carter of Alvescot £50, totalling £417 10s 0d.

Most of this money was given at the end of the 16th cenRichard
Ashcombe died in 1606. He was a wealthy landowner and wool
merchant, who owned Witney Farm in Curbridge and Holway Grange.
In his will he was able to leave his wife £800 ‘in a littlack trunk with
a padlock on in my chamber in Witney’. George Tomson afmpton
owned moveable property worth £951 when he died in 1603. Besides
leaving £30 to the poor of Witney, he also left money to ther of
Burford and Bampton. The Brice family were weavers in thentow
during the 15th century, and Stephen leased the manor andrimnegB
from the Bishops of Winchester. The family remained leseédte
Borough until the 17th century. Philip Box, who contributed £38s w
the grandfather of Henry Box, founder of the Grammar SchHeialip
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Box was Bailiff of Witney in 1573 and Churchwarden in 1571 and 1573.
The £1 10s from a person unknown was probably the 30s given to the
use of the town of Witney in the year 1600 by ‘Mr John Attwadirson,

of Cornwall, to the use of the poor artificers and cradisnof the
borough’. This same sum of money is again referred thenWitney
court book of 1609 as being ‘the gift of a parson in Devonshiréas

been impossible to trace the other benefactors, but afiutmames are
those of prominent Witney families of the 16th century.

As a result of the Charity Commissioners’ visit in 1682, this £417
10s, along with a further £64 10s ‘being money belonging to the town of
Witney’, was used to purchase an estate called Threffsraeland,
Eynsham. This land was let, and the income from the red tshelp
support the poor.

During the 18th century most of the money went to providing
apprentices’ indenture fees. At the time it was commontipeator a
master, when taking on an apprentice, to receive a f€6 {y the end
of the 18th century it had risen to £10). All but one of the exgjmres
whose indenture fee was paid by the charity were boys. Tdepten
was Martha Breakspear, apprenticed in 1698 to Thomas Pamo
fellmonger, to learn household employment.

While most of the boys were apprenticed to blanket weameds
allied trades, such as fulling and dyeing, some were employe@r@ m
unusual occupations. There were apprentice cordwainers lmazkers
and blacksmiths. Joseph Early, son of Thomas Early, iwas790
apprenticed to Thomas Savory of Oxford as a plumber ancbigl@ther
boys trained as tailors, shoemakers, harnessmakers, breekbesarad
chimney sweeps. Most of the Witney lads were apprenticéukitown,
but there were some who were sent to the surrounding towchstlaers
to London or even further afield. In the 1790s James Cork eriste
Hereford to learn to be a shoemaker, and in 1807 James Hamgses
apprenticed to James Tyrie of Little Queen StreeGifis-in-the-Field,
Middlesex, as a coach joiner.

Over 350 indenture certificates dating from 1670 to 1820 have
survived in the Witney parish chest, as receipts for the mtvaythe
charity paid out. However, these payments stopped in about 1B22. T
was not because the system had come to an end, but becausyg hed
had another visit from the Charity Commissioners, who wetenappy
about the way the charity was spending its income. They foundt tha
was not only the poor and needy whose fees were paid, but anybody who
applied. There were many cases of sons being apprenticéueito
fathers, and the fathers getting the fee.
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After 1822 most of the Freeland charity money was spent @dbre
and beef for the poor at Christmas. By the end of the d&ttury this
distribution of Christmas cheer had got somewhat out of hemdiwas
causing concern among responsible citizens. Throughout the t#98s
were repeated demands at vestry meetings to see thenes;dout they
fell on deaf ears. There were also letters in Wéney Gazette
demanding reform. On 23 July 1910 the Charity Commissioners again
visited Witney, and again did not like what they saw. Caohéde really
be 2,330 people in Witney in need of Christmas handouts? Could
families in receipt of over £1 a week truly be called poor2909,
2,609Ibs of beef had been given away at Christmas, costing 8405,
£14 worth of bread had been distributed.

There was a considerable outcry when the Commissionersspop a
to the large-scale distribution of bread and beef which n@fnthe
inhabitants felt was theirs by right, in spite of the falat the
churchwardens, who divided up the meat, would often find joutside
their doors, left by disgruntled townsfolk who felt theimibes were
entitled to cuts of better quality.

A further scandal was revealed when the Commissioners went
through the accounts of the Freeland charity. Why hadents rbeen
received lately for the shooting rights on the Freelandte®tBefore
1900 a small income had been so derived. The explanation wag:simp
the trustees had been enjoying free shooting. That was th®pads
1910. The Charity Commissioners then recommended that thiarkdee
charity and all the other small charities for the towsosr be combined,
so that they could be better administered and the needyadequately
catered for.

Charities were unable to support the vast majority ofpibar, so it
fell to the parish rate to provide food, clothing and sheltethfose who
could not keep themselves. The parishioners of Witney, likpaptes
everywhere, disliked having to dig too deeply into their paglsa every
effort was made to keep the poor rate as low as possihietended to
mean that the conditions in the Workhouse were uncomfortablegé
to discourage people from applying for parish relief, though the
workhouses of the 18th century were not nearly such unplepisees
as the union workhouses of the next century. The first known omeoti
a workhouse in Witney is in 1747.

During the 17th century, the poor were kept in the Brideweth wi
the petty criminals. The name Bridewell came from theaRéydging
near Saint Bride’s Well in the City of London, which was gi\®n
Edward IV for a hospital and later converted into a hofisswection.

31



In the early part of the century the City of Oxford seiferalers to the
Bridewell in Witney, and paid the Witney Vestry to lookeafthem.

In 1747, when the overseers found that ‘the poor of the pafish o
Witney are becoming very numerous’, and that ‘the idle poor areo
well able to work have taken to charity which shoulgehbeen paid to
the aged and infirm who are the real object of charity@mdpassion’,
they decided to establish a workhouse, with the accent verh mc
work. The overseers and churchwardens appointed Edward Bolton,
baker, of Witney, to provide ‘meat and drink, washing lodgamgl
apparel for the poor’, and paid him £230 for three years.dhamge for
their keep the Workhouse inmates had to work hard and handhaer
earnings to the Workhouse keeper. In this way, by paying soneone
look after the able-bodied poor, the parish was able to keep dewn
rates. This move was sanctioned by the Workhouse Act of 1722h whic
allowed the contracting out of workhouses, the contractor'stifum
being ‘to keep, maintain and employ the poor and taking berigfiew
work for maintenance’.

In 1810 the Vestry minutes record that ‘Mr Daniel Hartshaas h
agreed to take the poor of the parish to maintain antheclinem for
£1480'. This Workhouse was 45 Corn Street, which originallysisted
of three cottages and a garden that belonged to the tohargies. They
were enlarged by means of a loan from Robert CollierJaha Clinch.
The Master of the Workhouse sometimes held street colsctWilliam
Gardener, who was born in 1813 and died in1906, remembered seeing
‘the Master of the Corn Street Workhouse, accompanied by theteam
wheeling a barrow through the streets with a huge baxraseptacle for
the coppers which he collected for the poor rate’. Thecotthges that
formed this early workhouse were much altered in Viatotimes and
part became the premises of Thomas Cook, coach and edvtidder.

The last decade of the 18th century saw a vast increabe iprice
of wheat. It rose from 50s a quarter in the early 1790s tar88%96,
and by 1800 had reached the unheard-of sum of 130s. This enormous
increase was caused by a series of poor harvests, dnd Heamatic
effect on the amount of money that the parish had to prosrdelief. In
1794 £820 was spent; by the turn of the century this had rig&h&87,
and a peak of £3,197 was reached in 1820. The Vestry dich &HB i
power to keep the poor rate to a minimum. Tenders were entéodar
the supply of food to the Workhouse: ‘Thomas Diver agreed to pravide
sufficient quantity of bacon at 10d per Ib and best asbpd&toes at 3s
per sack’. Likewise, Richard Spittle was ‘to provide aisight quantity
of good wheaten bread at 20d per half peck loaf’. All th&scof the
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Workhouse were scrutinised monthly by an inspector appointateby
Vestry.

At this time of inflated wheat prices the vast inceeasthe number
of people living below the breadline meant that a new warkhovas
called for. In order to keep the parish rate down, a unianklvouse was
established, combining the parishes of Witney, Curbridge, Haihey
Cogges. Such combined workhouses were sanctioned under &iurt'
of 1782. In 1836 it was built to a design of George Wilkinson dh@yi
This imposing building on Tower Hill was used in World Warto
accommodate the firm of Crawford Collets. It has now bearlne
totally demolished and the site is being used for resilgnirposes.

More agreeable accommodation took the form of almshouses.
Witney has three sets of these, two of which are on @hGreen. The
ones actually in the churchyard were originally endowed by John
Holloway, the philanthropist who founded the Blue Coat Schoohid
will of 1723 he directed his executors, within five years ofd@sease,
‘to cause an almshouse to be built, on Church Greethdaresidence of
six poor widows’. Each house was to have ‘a lower and an wpper,
together with a little garden, and other things necess@hg. original
almshouses no longer exist: they were rebuilt to the desigilbdm
Wilkinson in 1868.

The other almshouses on Church Green, near the entrahi@anty
Box School, date back to Tudor times. They are firsttioeed in an
inquisition taken by the Commission of Charitable Uses in 1G%tere
was belonging to and for the use of the poor people of Witan
almshouse and a garden, in Witney consisting of three seamtaland
tenements, in which poor and indigent people of the boroughitoieW
were placed, and did inhabit.’ By the end of the 18th wgnthese
almshouses were described as ‘being in a wretched cftaggpair and
unfit for habitation’. The old houses were pulled down, and rew
substantial tenements of two storeys, were built atxperese of £354'.
They were further modernised in 1814, with the addition ofché&n and
a fuel store at the back. These cottages, strictlykeppaceased to be
almshouses, and were let for rent. After the money thétken spent
on their modernisation had been repaid, the income fronetite rwas
used to help the poor. This help was mainly in the form e&drand
beef at Christmas, and so the cottages came to be knothe dsead
and beef houses'.
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Bread and beef cottages. (CG)

Church Green. The bread and beef cottages are at tloé gredrow. W. Seely 1856
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The third set of almshouses, near Staple Hall, was foulbged
William Townsend in 1821 for six aged unmarried women. The
Townsend family had been well-known in Witney for many gatiens,
and kept the Staple Hall Inn during the 17th century. At tme the
founded the almshouses, William Townsend had left Witneybendme
a haberdasher in London.

Staple Hall, once a coaching inn (CG)

William Townsend's almshouses for six aged unmarried womeit, 1821(CG)
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The Butter Cross. In 1606 Richard Ashcombe left £50 to butidtse over and
above the Cross.’ The clock was added later, after a sefjam William Blake of
Cogges in 1683. The centre pillar is possibly the base oldamarket cross, though

tradition has it that a statue of the Virgin stood on fut.s

36



BOX AND BLUECOAT

The most prestigious school in Witney during the 17th and 18th

centuries was the Grammar School founded by Henry Box in 1660.
Henry Box was born in 1585 of a Witney family. He studiedatl
College, Oxford, later becoming a prosperous businessmaonidon
and a prominent member of the Grocers’ Company. Wishing to do
something for his home town, the elderly Henry Box decided tdagen
many other philanthropists of his time, and to endow angrar school.
He bought some land beside the Rectory, and had a schoabmitilin
1660. This attractive and well-proportioned building is stilluse; the
school has been extended several times in its long life, budridieal
schoolhouse remains the focal point for the passer-by on CGuesan.

Henry Box himself died only two years after founding the school,
but his widow and sole executrix, Mary, took over all thergyeanents.
Upkeep was provided by a rent charge of £50 per annum from proper
in Longworth. A formal Act in 1663 said that the four Wardehdhe
Grocers’ Company were to be Governors, and that the Praudstour
senior Fellows of Oriel would be Visitors, coming to gafool annually
on 25 July (St James’s day). The teaching would be entrisstetaster
and an Usher. The qualifications and duties of thesep®dagogues
were strictly defined by Mary Box in the ‘Statutes Constins Orders
and Directions’ of the school: as one would expect, theythide of the
highest moral and religious character. As for acadepmdifications, the
Master was required to be an MA and the Usher a graduatssible.
They concentrated on Latin, Greek and Hebrew. The moreipsighs
of writing and arithmetic were taken care of by a ‘wriggtimaster’,
who did not live in, as the Master and Usher did.

There was one essential qualification for the pupils: trey to be
able to read English perfectly. They were divided intoéfationers and
foreigners. The foundationers formed a privileged group of 3G,boy
drawn both from Witney town and from descendants of the Baoya
They received free tuition. The rest of the pupils wereeifmers’ from
further afield, whose parents paid fees set by the MastetUsher.

Between 1663 and 1767 the Masters were mostly distinguished
academics and clergymen, respected by the townspeoplellassviy
their hardworking pupils. There was unfortunately one, Jobwie; BA,
whose long reign was a disaster. In spite of plummeting msrdoed
accusations of neglect, irresponsibility, excessive bea#ind anti-
Dissenter discrimination, he managed to remain in poareB89 years -
until his death, in fact. The next Master was able taveethe school,
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which continued quite successfully until he retired in 17&ffer that
there was a long period of decline, a fate shared bygat ghany of the
grammar schools in the 18th and 19th centuries, when a mieriat
form of education, with the emphasis on the ‘three Ristame popular,
and when schools were being opened to cater for variousntiss
religious groups. For years attendance at the GrammaoSieiled to
reach double figures, and in May 1839 there was a Masterdbu n
single pupil.

In 1877, after years of varying fortunes, the school wasassitied,
on the recommendation of the Charity Commissioners, as criie
Grade’ or ‘Middleclass’ school to cater for boys without ursitgr
aspirations. They were to study English subjects, arithmetic
mathematics, natural science, French, Latin, drawiagal music, book-
keeping and various extras. In this form the school settbedai period
of calm stability, though numbers (never more than 28yewe
disappointing.

Meanwhile, scientific and technical education was gaining in
importance everywhere. In 1898 a Technical School was opened in
Witney, and it soon became clear to the Grocers’ Companyttand
County Council that it would be sensible to amalganiateith the
Grammar School. This process was completed in 1902. The r&roce
Company, which had faithfully and generously carried out H8ary's
wishes for 240 years in good times and bad, handed over respgnsibili
to the County, though it continued to contribute £100 a ye#iret school
and take a benevolent interest in its progress.

Witney Grammar School drawn by W. Seely, ¢1850.
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At the same time the Blue Coat School, founded by John Hajlow
in 1723, was closed down and the endowment used for scholarships to
the new Witney Grammar and Technical School, as well astfeer
educational purposes in the spirit of the Holloway charity.

The Technical School had been open to girls as well as pysew
became entitled to go to the new foundation. By 1905 there tmey
women teachers on the staff, and by 1911 about half the pupis we
girls. The school prospered steadily from the time of thalgamation,
though it was inconvenient for pupils to commute between théltk
for Arts subjects and the Technical Institute in the Higheest for
Science. By 1910 a New Block had been opened to solve thitepro
and cater for ever-increasing numbers.

In 1922 the school became known once more as Witney Grammar
School. Academic and sporting successes became more and more
frequent: many boys and girls went on to universities adeg good
degrees.

The school's tercentenary year was 1960 culminating in tafnadgn
Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother. She arrived by helicopt&0on
July, and spent the afternoon at the school, opening some splendid ne
buildings and attending a lunch and a garden party.

More changes were on the way, however, for later in the 1960s
grammar schools were phased out in Oxfordshire. The schoaimieec
Comprehensive in 1968, and reverted to the name of its orfgunadier,
Henry Box, who would surely be gratified if he could #sebuilding he
planned looking as good as new, and surrounded by attractive modern
extensions, providing space for 14,000 pupils.

In 1953 a big new school was opened at Wood Green, with up-to-
date facilities and large playing-fields. It startég as a Secondary
Modern school, it became Comprehensive in 1968, and has Htdth fi
anniversary, thought not yet a tercentenary. It hasisemtja Sixth Form
block and purpose-built accommodation for all kinds of educatiand
sporting activities. More playing fields have been puretiasnd the
swimming pool is one of the attractions of a school whichbiem®me
known for its sound academic results and enterprising esitiadol
activities. At present, Wood Green caters for about theesaumber of
pupils as its more venerable counterpart.

Sixty years after Henry Box’s death, Thomas Early (1655-1733), a
blanket weaver and from 1703 a bailiff of the town, persuaded John
Holloway, a wealthy cloth merchant with land and property ingy

39



and Hailey, to leave money to found a school more suited tonles.
Holloway did more: in 1723 he left his house on Narrow Hill ¢oulsed
as a schoolhouse. The endowment for the school came frormdisla
Stonesfield and in Hailey.

In his will John Holloway stated that the school was to drettie
sons of poor journeymen weavers, and that the pupils should bectlot
‘in the manner of the Bluecoat Hospital boys in London’. A
Nonconformist and no lover of the established church, Holldweter
directed that the schoolmaster ‘should be no clergyman eityasober
man and a good scrivener who can cast accounts...for doingsalhe
have the sum of £10 per annum paid twice yearly.’

The Blue Coat School aimed to educate, clothe and feed %5 tieoy
from Witney and five from Hailey. They started at sevearyeld, and
stayed until they were 14, when the school paid their indefteseto
allow them to become apprentices in the blanket industrna result of
a recommendation of the Charity Commissioners in 1822, the schsol w
opened up to the sons of other operatives in the industry dsasvel
weavers. John Wright, a Witney man living in America, aldg#,800 to
its funds in 1860.

With the reorganisation of educational establishment/itney in
1902, the Blue Coat School and its charities were amalgaméth the
Grammar School. Its 24 pupils left the building, which therabecthe
West End elementary school, for it was considered toofdarthe
younger children to walk from West End to St Mary's SchooCborch
Green.

At the beginning of the 18th century there were no charity sshiool
Witney, according to the Rector’s return to the Bishop of Oxiard
1738. The Rector, Robert Freind, goes on to say that helhstsrted a
charity school for 12 boys ‘who were clothed and taughtetal and
write at my expense’; he carried on this school for sixgjaa the hope
‘that | might by degrees have drawn in the parish to joyh me in that
design’. The Rector did not run the school in person, but paié@oen
to teach the boys. In fact, by his own admission, he ondygllin Witney
for five months of the year, and some of this time was Spatie City
of Bath for his health’s sake.

The third charity school was endowed in 1695 under the will of
William Blake, Lord of the Manor of Cogges, who also endovedaals
at High Cogges and Newland. This school, in the High Stweset, run
by a schoolmistress who lived in the house rent-free, amiveeL£6 a
year for instructing 30 children between the ages of sixrame. The
‘poor schoolmistress’ was to be paid once a year at Miclaaseliput
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often her ‘pay cheque’ was late, as the money came ohbeé oénts of an
estate left for this purpose, and the tenants frequéamited to pay on
time. She was able to make some extra income by chaimgifdren
under six years of age. This school seems to have disappeattesl
middle of the 19th century. It was flourishing in 1822 when thariGh
Commissioners inspected the charity schools of the areat Buhot
mentioned in their records of the 1870s.

As well as these charity schools there were many privatat
schools. Most of them sprang up, existed for a few years fzamd t
vanished, usually without trace.

At the beginning of the 19th century the Church took an actiee rol
in promoting education, with the founding of the National School
Movement. In 1813 the Movement called a meeting in the Blanket Hall
and it was decided to found a National School on Bridge tStféus
later moved to Church Green. William Smith, who grew aiplay an
important part in Witney’s industrial and social histomgnt there in the
early 1820s, but considered it ‘humble fare’ compared with Blue
Coat School.

The National School charged a penny a week. Reading, waitidg
arithmetic were taught, and of course religious instructi@s an
important subject. In 1838 an infants’ school was added, holtsng
classes in the Wenman Chapel in the Church. By the etidecf9th
century, when the National School was taken over by the newrlyefib
County Council, it had accommodation for 450 children, amaverage
attendance of 140 boys and 150 girls.

Nonconformists have played an important part in establisivica |
schools. A Quaker schoolroom was built in about 1698, and continued
until 1787. The Wesleyans started a mixed school in 1851, thbeg
had been a Wesleyan Sunday school for a long time befatelthwas
held in an old thatched building, the width of a cottage an&&0ldng,
on the north side of the old Chapel. The Sunday School was divited
six classes, and reading and writing were taught. At the abirthe
century the school was greatly extended, and became a higher
elementary school under the County Council. It was probaklyairgest
elementary school in Oxfordshire; in 1903 it certainly Ha& thighest-
paid head teacher in the county, with a salary of £23(ana o other
elementary teacher received more than £200 then.

A crisis arose in the late 1920s: the Church school buildings on
Church Green were dilapidated and would cost £2,750 if tleeg W be
repaired and provided with modern heating and sanitation suftabée
junior mixed school. There was also a need for a nevorseahool, but
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the cost to the ratepayers would be formidable. The &ituaias saved
by a prominent local family, the Batts, who presented Hiille a large
house in the town centre, to the school trustees. Accorditigetestate
agent’s booklet the house, set in three acres of groundivieacb€eption
rooms, a full-sized billiard room, 12 bedrooms and dressiogss,
bathroom, servants’ hall and capital stabling. This giinmemorated
the family’s long connection with the town; for generations dschy
the name of Batt had cared for the sick in Witney. [aseof the line, Dr
Charles Dorrington Batt, had died at The Hill in 1926. Tnateful
trustees set about planning a new school to be built in itseagnplinds.
It was opened in July 1930. By 1964 the Batt School had become a
Church of England junior school, and a large extension hadlek.

Roman Catholic children came into their own when Our Lady of
Lourdes Catholic Primary School was opened in 1959, near the Gonven
of the Sisters of Charity on Curbridge Road.

Further education came to Witney in the 1950s. It startedZasya
Continuation School, and became a Technical College soenvafds;
in 1990 it was re-named the West Oxfordshire College. Qheeyéars
the College has expanded enormously. In the late 1960s and @a0ly
four large teaching and administrative blocks were built tovide
modern classrooms, lecture theatres, sports halls andaaylibn the
1990s there were 500 full-time students and 60 full-time teadiaff
as well as large numbers of part-time and evening studedtsutors. In
April 2002 the college merged with Abingdon to form the Abingdon and
Witney College catering for 10,000 students a year, over the two
campuses.

The window on the right is part of the old National Schod@ridge
Street, founded on the site of the White Hart Inn. DrawiWbeely
c185(
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Some of the books left to 1
Grammar schoolby Henn
Box (JG).

The Wesleyan School 1994. (CG)
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Jubilee plaque similar to
the one high on the wall
of the extension to the
old Wesleyan School.

(CG)

Classroom, Witney Grammar School, c1920. (OCL)
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Grammar School, with the avenue of elm trees, nowdfdézause of Dutch elm
disease.

Proposed timetable for the enlarged Wesleyan School, 1900 (PRO
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Weaving at Mount Mill c1930. (LB)
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WARP AND WEFT

Witney has been famous for the manufacture of blanketsefaral
hundred years, but the origins of the woollen industry areconded.
We do know that weavers were at work by the latter Hathe 12th
century, for a fine of 6s 8d imposed on a weaver of Witaegcorded in
the Royal Pipe Rolls of 1179. The fact that young King Hehrgpent
£20 on cloth in Witney in 1221 suggests that the making of ldoéh
had reached a high standard, though it may only mearihiig were
enough rich people in Witney to make it worth while ¢tmth merchants
to import top quality cloth from Flanders.

During the 13th and 14th centuries wool became more and more
important here, under the influence of the Bishops of Winehewho
kept ever-increasing flocks of sheep on their demesne landBighep’s
1278 account rolls show that 370 sheep were kept, and by 1346 the
number had increased to 600; by the end of the 14th centufiothe
was nearly 1,500 strong.

Before mechanisation began to infiltrate the cloth ingusiwards
the end of the 18th century, most processes were catridaydand in
local houses and cottages. The master weaver, having boughbdiis
from wool merchants and fellmongers, sorted it according tbtyjaad
length of staple, or fibre. He then blended it carefully added rape oil
to make it easier to work. His next step was to loaxhito a pack horse
and deliver it to families - some local, some many mdesy in the
Cotswolds - whom he employed to card and spin. The candas
usually done by men and boys, who then handed the combed-out wool
over to women, to spin on traditional spinning-wheels. Tiask was
mostly done in the winter, when the men were less busy il t
regular jobs as farm workers.

The master weaver collected the pads of spun yarn and thade
blankets on his own looms in his house or shed. At this stagevére
loose, rough and oily, ready for fulling. This entailed hebegting of
the cloth in large vats containing water and fuller’stear clay. As the
earth was forced through the cloth, the grease wagestmut, and the
water caused the blankets to shrink to a firmer texture. vimny first
fullers (or tuckers, as they are often called) are thotgghave used their
feet to pound the cloth, but from an early stage this dea® in special
fulling mills, using river water both for power and for theatlsing
process: the first definite record of a fulling mill on #éndrush at
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Witney appears in 1223. It may have been there for a considenme
before that; they were known in Oxfordshire at the endhef 12th
century. There is a record of one at Barford in 1185 and anather
Brightwell in 1208. By the end of the 14th century there wexeduch
mills in Witney.

After the fulling process, the nap was raised on the dgtimeans of
teazles, and the blankets were stretched on tenters tbesnyand make
them the right size and shape.

Most of the finished blankets were transported to London in heavy
wagons, which then returned loaded with wool from the fellmonigers
the capital. There was a good export market for Witney prodéctsur
Young, the industrial and agricultural expert, writing in 17&8d shat
the best and most expensive blankets went to Spain aridg&lor
Cheaper lines, which were still highly serviceable and aiecwere
‘duffle stripe’ and ‘point’ blankets. These were populathwthe North
American Indians, and Hudson's Bay Company placed regudsars
with Witney weavers. The Indians were particularly fondhef duffles,
which were sent out in pairs joined together, but with a holéhe
middle of the join, so that they could be slipped over the aea worn
as a warm cape. The weavers knew that the Indians likedctiig-
coloured, broad stripes, and tried various combinatiordye$. By the
20th century the tradition had evolved of using indigo, yellow,amed
green bars at each end of the white blanket. Less exdteWproducts
were covers for wagons and barges, horse-blankets and wad#eme
capes: all these were made of heavy cloth, which had awtah the
grease removed, and therefore kept the rain off. Anotheressfot
Witney enterprise was mop-making.

The growth of the woollen industry was clearly reinforcedtosy
fast-flowing river Windrush, which could provide water-power fo
fulling mills on its banks between Witney and Burford. adfrPlummer,
in The Witney Blanket Industr§934, suggests that broadcloth weaving
flourished here because there was no guild of weavetseimoivn, so
that, apart from the general laws concerning weights anduresy very
little in the way of restrictive practices existed. § hllowed the industry
to grow and competition to flourish. It is even possibé theavers from
the older, but more restricted centres like Coventry may hamesd to
Witney in order to practise their trade unhampered by tleeofuduilds.

This may have been a happy state of affairs in many ,wayis
during the 17th century the weavers found they had to contemd wit
considerable fraud and malpractice. The Trade Commissioppsting
in 1640 on the state of ‘the clothing industry in England’, foumat t
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frauds in the manufacture and dressing of cloth were caasilegay in
the industry. Although alnagers (special inspectors) ekistéensure that
cloth was of a proper standard, they sometimes callettieir fees
without carrying out their inspections, and were often disstoaeough
to accept bribes to pass inferior cloth. In 1641 the blamesatvers of
Witney petitioned the House of Lords about a patent forst#ading of
their blankets, saying that ‘Wm. Howes, now deceased, armbhihad

been enriching themselves by raising the price for ingpeetnd sealing
each bundle of blankets from 2d to 6d, and had also madeyrmahef

‘fines and exactions’. Their Lordships ordered ‘that the qiats shall
forbeare to lay any imposition upon the said Blankets nmd® be

made in that Toune until the pleasure of this House be fuktizern’.

The Commissioners of Trade decided that the state of the ipdust
would be improved if corporations were granted to sixty &wn
including Witney, with paid officers to regularise stards. Nothing
came of this idea, at least in Witney, and in 1670 the ®WwlaEnketers
again petitioned for improvements, this time to the EaClarendon,
then Chancellor of England. They complained about ‘the low conditi
of this poore towne which hath heretofore bin a place ditgrading
and hath yeelded much reliefe not only to the poore Inhabjtaot to
the working poor about it'. They suggested that the river Wistdr
should be made navigable for boats as far as the Thahasthere
should be improvements in the markets and fairs in the tanch,'that
for the better and more orderly preservation of the Trawléhe keeping
out of Forraigners and otherwise, there might be someedettl
government within the same by such way as your Lordship shak thi
most convenient.” What they really meant was that thegted a closed
shop, but their petition does not appear to have had any é&fieally, in
1711, the blanket makers got their way, and Queen Anne gridueieda
Royal Charter of incorporation which formed the Company\itney
Blanket Weavers, to regulate the manufacture and sale tieyVi
blankets within twenty miles of Witney.

Though called a Company, the new organisation was not codcerne
with stocks and shares or joint production. Its membeerew
independent individuals. Its job was to control such thinghesize and
weight of blankets, and the number of apprentices and jousreyan
master weaver could employ. The Company held court and Head t
power to fine anyone breaking its by-laws, though sometimesrigg f
were remitted or reduced if the offender produced his metrayght
away. On 25 January 1737, for example, ‘Elisha Whitlock wetsiiRed
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for having twenty five Cutts in one stockful & was fined &dillings
which he paid down but on his submission it was remitted to 6d.

The Company maintained a warehouse in London, with a
warehouse-keeper to organise storage of goods awaikpgrteor
distribution.

In the 17th and early 18th centuries, blanket-making was inayo w
industrialised. Dr. Robert Plot, the scientist andadhniah, writing in
about 1677, suggests that in Witney there were threescore taemke
who had at least 150 looms, ‘employing 3000 poor people, from children
of eight years old to decrepit old age...” Most of thesald/ have been
employed in the spinning of the wool rather than the weavingditZp
also kept a fair number of workers occupied. The srohalldren
probably worked at winding the yarn onto the bobbins. In 1788 the
average number of looms per weaver was three, with bejhty about
the maximum.

The Blanket Hall, drawn by W. Seet{850
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Alfred Plummer calculates that, when the Blanket Compaag w
formed, there would have been about 180 looms working in amh@ro
Witney, directly employing 360 masters, journeymen and appesntic
Another two thousand or so men, women and children would have
worked as carders, spinners, quill-winders and spoolersreTivould
also have been the fullers and tuckers who finished thie clo

In the early years of the Blanket Company, meetings of itshaesn

were held in the Staple Hall Inn, but in 1720 they decided that they
needed a headquarters of their own. They were able to putasese
with a garden and orchard on the east side of the HiglktSte£85.
The old house was pulled down and a grand new hall built platse,
consisting of ‘the Hall’, the ‘Great Room’ and the ‘Assist@ariRoom’
with kitchens and out-buildings. The outside of the building vaasreed
with a one-handed clock, and on the roof was a woodenusadktvith a
cupola.

By the end of the 18th century mechanisation was creepintn i
1782 the Company of Blanket Weavers purchased a horse-powered
rowing machine for raising the nap on blankets, a job whiad h
previously been done by hand, using teazles.

It was the great demand for cloth in the Napoleonic Whed
provided the biggest force for change: the overseas expeditions o
Wellington’s army must have caused a great need for blarikéien
Arthur Young visited Witney in1807 he remarked on the improvement
of the industry, with the introduction of the spinning jenniesl #he
spring loom ‘by which one man does the work of two’. £4000 a wear
earned by machinery, Young found, ‘but in respect to the sfatkee
working hands the medal must be reversed...” for mechamdadd not
only cut down the number of workers employed, but pegged their wages
to rates in force at the time of Young's previous visit,riyed0 years
before. Spinning was moving out of the cottages and into ths, raill
disaster for the rural workers. John Early and Paul Hasig installing
water-powered spinning machinery in New Mill around the 1790s. In
1818 a fire in New Mill caused severe damage, destroying £10,000
worth of valuable modern machinery.

The weaving process was not power-driven in Witney until about
1860. Power looms were only marginally faster than the sprifiging
shuttle looms, which were, in fact, so efficient thagyt went on being
used until well into the 1930s.
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The advent of machinery effectively put an end to the aughofit
the Company of Blanket Weavers. Its rules and regulationgligistot
apply in the new industrial age. After a period of slow declime
attendance, the Hall was sold to Mr Edward Early for £2Q1B#4, and
the last few meetings took place back at the Staple Hhall the
Company’s birthplace. The last recorded meeting was tob@c 1847.

From the 1660s the names of Collier, Marriott and Early datath
the Witney blanket industry. Enterprising and skilled masteaveses
from these families were important members of the Compang
eventually, with the arrival of mechanisation, becameofgcowners.
Though rivals in a sense, they enjoyed a business relatiomsrgly
enough to allow them to help each other out when the need arusto
share big orders from Hudson’s Bay Company, to the beokfill.
Socially, things were even better, for intermarriageeroftook place
between the leading families, especially the Marriatid the Earlys.

During the 1840s a new figure emerged onto the Witney woollen
scene: William Smith (1815-1875), an orphan who was brought up by
his grandfather, Henry Smith, a master tucker. Willihad some
education at the dame school in Bridge Street, and then BiubeCoat
School till he was eight, when his grandfather’s health wetted and
he was sent out to work as a quill winder. A bright ladatieacted the
attention of Edward Early (1775-1835), who employed him as errand
boy-spooler for four shillings a week. William was soon iputharge of
all the weighing and inspecting of blankets for Edward E&té/ writes:

‘In the course of time my duties attended to the weighingfiwools,

which taxed my arithmetic for a little time, the woolsving to be
weighed in packs, scores and pounds, and as my employer had now
commenced a foreign trade in wools all of which were invoired
hundredweights...At length the whole of the blanket departraemiec

into my hands for selection, classification, and packingh ot the

home and foreign trade’. By the time he was 24 he wasngsttie
London blanket markets and learning about the more highly meehbanis
woollen industry of Yorkshire.

By the 1850s William Smith had acquired a small amoticapital
as a result of a beer brewing business he was able tansthet almost
disused Blanket Hall. When John George, who ran a smafl ya
manufacturing plant, became involved in debt, Willam was able
purchase his machinery. To this small donkey-powered machine he
added an eight horse-power steam engine. This was thede sif steam
power in the Witney woollen industry. Before then it had biemght
too expensive to carry coal from the wharf at Eynshawimey. The
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speed at which businesses could be set up in those dagt ikustrated
by what William wrote about his first steam engine: ‘gduwell on the
spot, erected a shatft, laid foundations for the engin¢heddoiler on the
flues, and had all complete for starting in 14 days.a®tas a source of
power proved a success. William was able to move to largeriges in
Bridge Street and acquire bigger and more efficient seajimes.

The coming of the railway to Witney in 1861 reduced the poice
coal and made steam power more economical.

By the beginning of the 20th century the blanket industry in Witne
was run by the Earlys, the Marriotts and the Smiths. TWene able to
share contracts and help each other out with the spinniyayof

Over the years the name Witney came to be applied to aypartic
type of soft, good-quality blanket, and northern manufactutiet ot
hesitate to use it for their own products, even though théywhsolutely
no connection with the town. In 1908 the Witney manufacturers decided
to try to keep the famous name for their own products.Mé&ehandise
Marks Act of 1887 (an early trade description act) seemguidade a
good basis for a lawsuit against Rylands and Sons, the Maeches
wholesalers, for selling blankets ‘with a false trade dgson applied'.
After a long legal struggle the Court came down on the sidthef
Witney manufacturers, and the northern companies had to givsing
the name of Witney. Not all accepted defeat: the one waydrdie
Court’s decision was to set up premises in Witney, and thibas some
of them did. The Witney Blanket Company set up the Butter Cross
Works near the Church, to finish Yorkshire blankets tontseketed
under the Witney label. Walkers, a Yorkshire firm, set upilaimThe
Crofts, and Smith’s Blankets went into partnership Viathlips, another
Yorkshire enterprise. Their association lasted untillié0s, when the
local industry contracted and they ceased trading.

In 1960 the firms of Early and Marriott decided to merge unuker t
name of Charles Early & Marriott (Witney) Limitedymtinuing to make
traditional blankets but also branching out into modern nadseri
methods and machinery. However, the 21st century brought new
problems and challenges, and in July 2002 Early’s of Witney closed
down, ending a historic 300-year family connection with the blanket
industry. The Mill Street site is now a flourishing resiiErarea.

Details of the seal attached to the Blanket
Company charter. Copyright Ray Cripps.

(B)
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Collier's weaving mill, Corn Street, which later be@apart of the Swan Laundry.
It burned down in the 1990s and was replaced with a block of Tlaésphoto was taken
from the playground of Batt School. (CG)

Charles William Early's mill on Wood Green ¢1880. DrawnW. Seely.
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Power loom weaving shed, c1890. Taunt.

Lengths of blanket stretched to dry on tenters — ‘on tertkghd920 (E)
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Whipping the ends of blankets, 1920s. (E)

Sydney Taylor weaving checked cloth for horse collars, cIB&€.slow speed of
the hand loom was no disadvantage in weaving checks, amthénhd to be stopped to
change the weft to blue to form the checks. (E)
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New Mill 1830 from a painting by T Langford (Photo LG

Bridge Street Mill, founded by William Smith. Now industnimits and housing. (CG)
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Central detaill of a
portrait of Queen Anne by
Sir Godfrey Kneller,
presented to the
Incorporated Company of
Blanket Weavers by Simon
1% Earl of Harcourt, High
Steward of the Company,
c1712. It used to hang in the
Blanket Hall. It was then
moved to the entrance hall
of Early's factory and is
now in the Oxfordshire
County Museum store. (CG)

Fulling stocks, c1890. Taunt
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Raising the nap ¢1890. Taunt.

Carding ¢1890 (Taunt)
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The dray being loaded from the Newland warehouse, 1898. Dyagiawed to be
used by the GWR to take goods to and from the station1@%0. (Taunt)

Richard Early, Master Weaver, weaving on a loom in \&est, 1983. (E)
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Charles Early & Marriott Mount Mill 1974

Witney Mill ¢1890 (Taunt)
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The old Rectory, Church Green, built by the Rev. R Freind
in 1723. Above the door is the crest of Jonathan Trelawney,
Bishop of Winchester. Now part of Henry Box School. J.
Buckler, 1825. (BL)

A South view of Witney Church, Oxfordshire. Drawn & Engrabgdlohn James Shury
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GOD’S HOUSE

It is probable that Saint Mary the Virgin, the Parish Chuof
Witney, was built by the Bishops of Winchester, and that vetakted
some time between 1070 and 1100.

The original Church had a large nave without aisles. haige of
exceptional size is certainly of early Norman constructibough the
small blocked-in window which can be seen from the nortle amsgh up
on the wall, is a single splayed window with a simple @&stlerebate,
and could be late Saxon. There may have been an earlier Sacuah
on the site, but no evidence of this can be found in the mxistasonry.

The north aisle and the porch were built in the late 1@thucy, and
the Church was added to and extended throughout the next 200 years.

In the 13th century, at the time when Bishop Peter des Rodmes w
laying out the new market place in Witney, the Church wagelar
rebuilt, with the addition of transepts and a central tawewned with a
graceful spire 156 feet high. As the town expanded during the same
century, so the Church needed to be increased in sizeesfemn aisle
was added to the south transept, and later a southnasigined to the
nave. It was about this time, also, that the chancel nebsilt and
enlarged.

The 14th century saw the addition of two chantry chapeig. Was
formed by extending the north transept, and the other d@esdato the
north aisle, west of the porch.

The 15th century was a period of even more additions. Aa bsy
was built on to the south transept, and from it, on theewaside, was
added another large chapel parallel with the chancet dlmpel was
removed in 1820, and the archway into it was walled up. Andtbgr
century innovation was a room built above the porch, witheplfice in
one corner; this was probably the living quarters of a chantiest.
Some time during this period a clerestory was added tomake and
transepts, which meant that the pitch of the roof halbetaltered. All
these alterations and additions to the Church are an iradicatihow
prosperous the town of Witney was in medieval times.

Little in the way of embellishment to the building took @an the
16th, 17th or 18th centuries, though its fabric must have needsthot
repairs. In about 1636 it was necessary to rebuild the spmiehviad
been ‘taken off by a sudden storm’. The churchwardens appointed
Humphrey Smith, a mason from Abingdon, to do the repairsagrebd
to pay him £200 to ‘build up the spire of the said church to a silzta
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height and near its former glory’. The churchwardens, howewae not
happy with his work, complaining that the repaired spire ‘natsraised
to its former altitude’. They refused to pay the fuliop, keeping back
£62. In support of Humphrey Smith, four witnesses - RitHdaud,
James Partridge, Moses Brampton and William Edwardstiiegrto
Bishop Bancroft of Oxford that the work on the spire wadl werth
£200, and that the reason it had not been restored toriter height
was that ‘the lower part of the steeple was falselybgetworkmen
appointed by the Bishop of Oxford’. Eventually, Smith wde ato
recover his money from ‘the refractory spirits of Witney'.

Major restoration work was not again carried out in@merrch until
the 1860s, for during the first half of the 19th century thabéshed
Church of England was in a rather decadent state. Regtyes more
often than not, absentees. The long-suffering parishionerSaait
Mary’s had to splash through deep puddles to get into @teirch, and
once inside they had to be prepared to share their paWwsaosids and
spiders.

In Witney, at this time, the nonconformist churches playedoae
important part in the religious life of the communityrithe Church of
England. The Congregationalists had built a new chapel in 1828, a
1850 saw the construction of the imposing new Wesleyan place o
worship, which probably provided a strong incentive for thebésteed
Church to improve its own accommodation. In 1864 a new Rector
arrived. His name was Francis Macaulay Cunningham, améhb@ man
of action who saw much that needed to be done in the parisddical
restoration was set in motion, paid for by public subscripti&eorge E.
Street was appointed the architect, though it is doubithe iever came
in person to supervise the work. The restyling of the oflaras taken
from his design for Saint John the Baptist Church in Sunuwert
which was pulled down in 1924.

Several important alterations were made during the 186&raési.
The large, five-lighted window at the east end of the chamee
removed, and replaced with a triple lancet window in théy éamnglish
style. The chancel roof was altered: it had been lovwhedcand lead-
covered, matching the roofs of the nave and transept, butomasrted
into a steep-pitched roof covered in Stonesfield slatesl. \Monk
describes the restored chancel as being clothed in aetigious light.

In the nave, more light was let in by the unblocking of seveaally
blocked windows, and the removal of the gallery and orgam tha
obscured the west window.
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Over the centuries, countless burials had caused the levhleof
churchyard to rise several feet, so that the path toahtth door had to
be dug out as part of the restoration work. Francis Magaula
Cunningham wrote on October 24 1867: *....had an army ofaheork,
lowering the paths both from the entrance gate to the mimth and
from our steps [the old Rectory steps] to the west door.0Werkd the
churchyard all round some two or more feet.’

Some of these restorations might be regarded as vandhlsm
present day opinion, but at least the parish was left avdry, light and
airy place of worship.

While Saint Mary’s was going through its phase of neglext a
dilapidation, the people of Wood Green acquired a brand havelc on
their doorstep. Holy Trinity was built in 1849, as a resulhefefforts of
the Rector, Charles Jerram, who felt that Saint Mamgs rather a long
way for Wood Green residents to walk. In 1864 Bishop Wilbeeforc
conducted a Confirmation service at Holy Trinity instead ofniSai
Mary’s, because of the deplorable state of the lattes. &fent coincided
with the arrival of Francis Macaulay Cunningham, and no doubt spurre
him on in his determination to set the Parish Churchytasi

St Mary's Church seen from the River Windrush. DrawibySeely in 1851 from
an old engraving.
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Monunment to William Blake o
Cogges and his family. Willia
donated the clock on the Butter
Cross to Witney. (CG)
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The carillon, ke a gian
musical box, still plays hyn
tunes every three hours. (EG

Small stone (now out of plac
marking the grave of Robert Yai
Gentleman, who left goods and cha
worth £537 18s 4d in his will. (CG)



Holy Trinity Church from the Woodstock Road. (JG)

Holy Trinity Church, Wood Green, built 1849. (JG)
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Site of the Friend
Meeting house, Wox
Green. Now a priva
dwelling. (CG)
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Gravestones in
Friends’ burial groun
(CG)



THE DISSENTERS

As far back as 1521 we can see signs of the important pgedoby
nonconformist churches in the religious life of Witney. hatt year,
certain townspeople were accused of reading heretiegdtire. William
Gune and his wife, along with John Baker, were accused dingca
treatise upon the Paternoster, and on another occasion Jkénizes
charged with reading the Epistle of Saint Peter in Ehngl&nother
Witney man denounced for his heretical ideas was John Bralhat
may well have been a Flemish weaver who settled in Engéardcape
the religious persecution of his own country.

There were many Quaker families in the district by thieddalf of
the 17th century. They held their meetings at the houseesteK Hart,
which oral tradition places in Meeting House Lane, nowledal
Marlborough Lane. There is no documentary evidence for &md, it
seems more probable that the first meeting house wasgioup of
buildings called ‘Old Housing’ in Wood Green. The recordstre
Society of Friends show that John Hart, son of Kestet, ansferred
property in 1677 to Thomas Minchin of Burford, John Harris &itds
Norton, and also that Thomas Minchin gave £383 towardsntugy-
established meeting house. At the same time the parisidsecb6aint
Mary the Virgin show entries with the words ‘Buried among Quakers
in Hailey’. Wood Green was, at that time, within theigia of Hailey.
During the 18th century all protestant places of worship téridebe
called meeting houses, so the name Meeting House Lane daesanyg
way prove that the meeting house was a Quaker one. The Weed Gr
building was the home of the Witney Quakers until 1966, when, sadly
dilapidated, it was sold to developers. The little grakeyemains,
however, and still belongs to the Society of Friends. Jodm Was one
of the Quakers who sailed with William Penn, to found tiew
settlement of Pennsylvania.

The ‘meeting house’ in Meeting House Lane certainly egisand is
now used as a Scout hall. By 1712 it was used by the Independents or
Congregationalists under the leadership of Rev Samuel Mathe

Another centre of nonconformity for the people of Witney was
Cogges. The living of that parish fell vacant in February 1668,to the
death of the Vicar, John Parkinson. At the time the mah@ogges was
owned by Francis Blake and his son William. Their stewRidhard
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Crutchfield, took the opportunity of inviting some nonconfiatm
ministers to preach in the Church. This led to what iiighcalled an
almighty row later in 1668. Thomas Gregory and his brotheFrBncis
Gregory, Master of the Grammar School, encountered Richa
Crutchfield in the Church, and a heated verbal exchange fitzae,
which ended with Crutchfield declaring that the clergy of Bndlwere
none of Christ's ministers, and leading the greater partthef
congregation out of the building. ‘Come,’ he said, ‘the wor@ofl is as
good in a house as in a church.” From then on, Anabaptistesmiere
held once, and sometimes twice a day, in the Blakes’ nfanse.

It would appear that neither Francis Blake, who died in 1683his
son William remained nonconformists, for in their wills, which they
left numerous benefactions to the people of Witney and Cotgaes, is
a provision for a supplement to the income of the incumbke@bgges,
on condition that he catechised the children of the paeghlarly. In
1682, when Bishop Fell inquired into the state of nonconformity in
Cogges, only two Quakers and one Anabaptist were listed.

The early years of the 18th century were boom years fagrdisEhe
Congregationalists built their first chapel in 1715, witbrigregations
estimated as between 400 and 500, and of these 30 are sagd to b
gentlemen, ye rest tradesmen, farmers and labourers’.

There was something of a decline in support for the nonconformist
churches during the next few decades, for when in 1738, Role@ndFr
DD, Rector of Witney, replied to a questionnaire saut lmy Bishop
Secker of Oxford, he reported that there were 40 famibés
Presbyterians, Independents and Anabaptists, all generally goihg
same meeting house in the town of Witney. ‘Two of the meatous
families which supported the Presbyterian interest thegeextinct,” he
commented, ‘and so are some of lesser note among tlentediss but
none of late years have left the church, so their numbess decrease.
Most of 'em come occasionally to church, especiallgatnon time. |
have once among the rest seen their teacher there. Theaés@argd0
Quaker families.’

In spite of Robert Freind’s predictions, nonconformity inn&y did
not die out. Far from it: there was to be an enormous rastege the
end of the 18th century, inspired by the preaching of that getigious
reformer, John Wesley. He had been curate at South reiji25, and
knew the area well. Between 1764 and 1789 he preached in Witney
regularly almost every year, sometimes indoors and someimts
open, and had a particular affection and respect fornbiserous
followers in the town.
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How much of the rise of Methodism can be attributed to teatg
storms of July 1783 is hard to say. The facts are ogrtancanny. On
29 June 1783, Richard Rodda, one of Wesley's travelling preaefzess,
addressing a congregation at Wood Green, and felt imgellsdy ‘My
dear friends, take notice of what | am going to say: leetiis day month
you will hear and see something very uncommon.’ Less thaeek w
later, on 2 July, there was a terrible thunderstorm. Teople were
killed by lightning, and workers hay-making in fields ness town were
struck senseless. There were further awe-inspiring thuodes on 10
and 11 July. John Wesley wrote in his diary: ‘There wergommon
thunder and lightning here last Thursday, but nothing to thethwiere
here on Friday night. About ten the storm was just overdha;tand
both the bursts of thunder and lightning, or rather the sloédtame,
were without intermission. Those who were asleep in then tovere
awakened, and many thought that the day of judgement was btene
women and children flocked out of their houses and kneeled down
together in the streets.” Mr Rodda, whose prophetic wbhads made a
tremendous impression, admitted 50 new members to the Soniéig
next visit, and John Wesley himself added 34. Those enrdilintpis
traumatic time were sometimes known as the ‘Thunder and riight
Methodists’.

The early Methodist meetings were held in a weaving shop, but by
1801 the congregation had outgrown this building, and a new chapel w
erected in the High Street. This, in turn, became toalls and was
replaced by the present chapel, which was designed by &ngilBath
in Gothic style and inaugurated in 1850.

The old Wesleyan Chapel. The houses on either side havedraethsthed. Drawn by
W. Seely.
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The Roman Catholic religion gained in importance in Witdesing
the 20th century. In 1915 No 1 Church Green was used as agneet
place for the monthly celebration of Mass by a visiting gtrigom
Summertown. Later in the same decade Mass was held avldhe
Workhouse chapel, as there was a group of Portuguese Csitimothe
town; they were engaged on building work at the new aerodrome.

In 1933 the Anglican school in West End was acquired and adapted
to become Witney’s first Catholic church. The parish praédEynsham
conducted the services, for it was not until 1948 that Witneys
parish priest, Father John Roddy, was appointed. During hig¢éomgof
service, plans were made to build a new church, and in I@T5years
after his retirement, the Roman Catholic Church of Ourylaatd Saint
Hugh was dedicated. Two ancient stones from Eynsham Ablkeey Ii
beneath the altar, as a symbol of the long association tiithearishes.

The Convent of the Sisters of Charity opened in Curbridgel Roa
1959 and closed in 1990. The sisters who lived there did pastorkl
or taught in the Catholic primary school of Our Lady of Losrde

The present Wesleyan Chapel, built in 1850. The building olefiheas the Post
Office. Drawn by W. Seely.
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The old Congregationalist Chapel on 1 Chapel in the burial grour
High Street, demolished in the 1950s to m: designed by William Wilkinsol
way for a supermarket. (SJ) (CG)

Field House, part of the Congregationalist Chapel, preyiais#d by the Christian
Scientists. From 1823-1857 this building was used as a pfivaighouse’ run by the
Batt family. (CG)
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The upper fagade of the «
Primitive Methodist Chap
in Corn Street is still visibl
The lower area was or
occupied by a laundrette ¢
dry cleaners, part of t
Swan Laundry, but is nc
home to a sandwich shop
a barber’s. (CG)

Left. Congregational Chapel in Meeting Ha
Lane. The old Chapel is now used as a ¢
hall. (CG)

Above Our Lady and St Hugh's Rom
Catholic Church. (CG)
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The Welcome Evangelical Church in the High Street, 2003) (C

The Temperance Hotel (now Boots the Chemist), c1900 (OMS)
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The station, starting point for the Witney Trip

The changing booths at the old bathing place on the banks of tiikush. They we
rebuilt in the 1930s further from the river. This kefom for a sunbathing area in fr
of them. The indoor pool at the Windrush Leisure Centre opentairi3. (TW)
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FUN AND GAMES

Present-day Witney has plenty of sporting facilitifse Leisure
Centre provides an indoor pool, sports hall, squash courts, snealker
and fitness studio. The town also has tennis courts, bowlinggeeel
pitches for football, rugby, hockey and cricket, as well aamificial
turf pitch. These amenities are mainly provided by the TamchDistrict
Councils. What forms of amusement were there for the joeopde in
the past? When Giles wrote Itsstory of Witneyin 1852, he bemoaned
the fact that ‘the few remnants of our old sports antirpas are rapidly
disappearing’, and went on to say that ‘Witney has litilb¢ recorded
in the way of sports and pastimes’.

When the Bishops of Winchester came to stay in their Witney
palace, it is probable that tournaments and jousts took. plaeee was
hunting in Wychwood Forest for the comfortably-off, andgang for
the less law-abiding. Fairs and markets were a popular fofm
entertainment.

From the 13th century Witney had two fairs, one granted202
and the other in 1231. According to the Hundred Rolls of 1279e thes
fairs took place on Ascension Day and on Saint Leonardigs Dhese
early fairs were for the serious business of buying arohgehnd not
for pure entertainment, like their present-day versionsn&yinow has
only one surviving fair, known as Witney Feast. This is a langéafr,
and starts on the Monday after the first Sunday aftere@efber.
Traditionally, an open-air service is held to blessftieon the Sunday
before it opens, the clergy standing among the brightly-phimbeses of
the old-fashioned roundabout. The origin of Witney Feastyreadls a
feast, for in 1243 Henry Ill gave two bucks for the Restéeast at
Witney. Nowadays, the Feast is held on the Leys, but eldiecentury
it took place on Church Green.

The Gallopers .
Witney Feast, tt
two day fair that i
now held on th
Leys. (JG)



Old Thomas Clarke, who was born in 1813 and was interviéyed
the Witney Gazettan 1906, remembered it being held on Curbridge
Down (on the left of the Burford Road). This move was probdbiyng
the 1860s, when the Down was also used for steeplechases.

Another fair that survived into the first decade of the 2@ty
was the Mop Fair, a hiring fair where domestic and agriclltworkers
were engaged for the coming year. This tended to be an ualattool
holiday, and was held during the first week in October,Ghurch
Green.

The coming of the railway brought about a new form of
entertainment, the ‘Witney Trip’. The first one was orgedisn 1876,
by William Smith of Bridge Street Mills and Edward Smidimthe
stationmaster, when 186 people were taken by train to thé&dseats
Brighton. The Trips became an annual event, and continuddthent
outbreak of the First World War, paying visits to WeymoutlalaB
Weston-Super-Mare, Liverpool, Torquay, Blackpool, Southamptuh
Hastings. There was an attempt to revive them in 1932, whem800
workers went to Brighton.

The forerunners of William Smith’s Witney Trips were theings
arranged by the Rector, Rev F.M. Cunningham, to Nuneha@40 and
'71. These excursions were for church workers, each one beditigd
to bring a friend. Choir boys were eligible to go, but hateave their
friends at home. On the first outing the special trami@s 95 trippers,
and the next year 140 people went, leaving Witney at 10.50 ewih@r
back at 10.30 in the evening.

The Leys, behind Saint Mary’s Church, originally belongedhte
Bishops of Winchester, and then passed to the Church Coiomeiss
In 1892 the Rector, Rev Foxley Norris, purchased the lanfif@00 as
a place where the people of Witney could play ‘manly ganiewas
afterwards bought from a later incumbent as a war mamafter the
First World War, and provided with facilities for crickébotball, bowls
and tennis. There is now also a children’s play ardgpaddling pool.

In the early half of the 19th century, before Holy Trinityutch was
built, unofficial games of cricket, football and hockey wefayed on
Wood Green - even on Sundays. William Smith, an otherwiemplary
young man, admitted to enjoying these guilty pleasures, iakgian his
autobiography that ‘there was ample space for any gameexskleébe
only peace authority at the time was a Beadle, “John Beaché&ygse
visits to Wood Green were few and far between.’
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Edward Smithman, the stationmaster from 1869 till his suddeh deat
in 1886, was not only one of the founders of the Witney Tripatsat a
great organiser of cultural events. He was secretéryhe Natural
History Society, he started the Witney Chess Club, and hexvpasne
mover in setting up a proper bathing place on the banks of the ¥§mdr
near New Mill. He also helped to raise money for a pultirary.

W.J. Monk mentions the annual battle that took place on 5
November between the Up-towns and the Down-towns, meaning those
living south and north of the Windrush. No folk memory ofsthi
alarming-sounding event survives today. It seems to hawt alig
around the beginning of the 19th century.

In that century drinking appears to have played a major ipart
Witney life, judging from the number of public houses. When the
population of the town was about 4,000, there were some 30 public
houses and inns. However, there were also active TemperanegeSoc
run by the Church of England and the Wesleyans, which offered
alternative amusements to tippling, and alternative plémepeople to
meet, including the Temperance Hotel and the CoffeeeffiavOne
particularly successful Temperance venture was a brads Wwhith was
a popular attraction on important occasions, and featured smitgary-
style uniforms of blue cloth trimmed with gold.

At the turn of the century there were other bands tooghathto
religious groups and factories, for brass band music wee dteight of
its popularity. Gradually they declined, until just the Tddand was left
to carry on the tradition, enjoying its best years in the 1880s1940s.

It is still in demand for local outdoor events, though playees now
quite difficult to find.

The cinema or Kinematograph show had visited the town by 1898,
and early this century Witney acquired its first cinentee Electric
Palace, at the Curbridge Road end of Corn Street. Thidfiilding was
made of corrugated iron with matchboard sides ailthg. There was

The cinema in
Corn Street

(Tw)
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accommodation for 800 people. The stage was 91 feet by 40 feet. T
building had a gas engine dynamo and was all wired up forielkght.

A few years after its founding, the cinema moved to a menéral
position in Market Square, where it enjoyed many yearsafess as the
Electric Theatre, then the Palace, before succumbitigetpressures of
television, video, high costs and dwindling audiences. However, in 1992
the Corn Exchange was equipped for cinema shows, which now take
place regularly.

As for live entertainment, the old historians tell ofigielus plays
and puppet shows held in or outside the Church in medievas,time
though few details are known. Later, in the 17th century, plesre
sometimes presented in local inns. One such performamded ein
fearful tragedy. A group from Stanton Harcourt had drawgoad-sized
audience to the White Hart, a Market Place inn which no loagiets.

In the middle of the show, the floor collapsed under the weigstich a
crowd, throwing large numbers down into the room below. Fa@ple
died and many were injured. This was in 1652, during the
Commonwealth. John Rowe, Witney's Puritan ‘lecturer’, waslqto
discover ‘the hand of God’ in the unfortunate playgoers’ fane, made
great capital out of it in writing and in sermons.

During the Second World War there were large numbers of
evacuated workers in the town, as well as troops on leagtationed
nearby. To cater for these lively young people, and to kpaporale on
the home front, variety concerts and dances were arrampece were
boxing matches and other sporting events, including women'’s tricke
Occasionally, great musicians came down to give recitals.

At the beginning of the Second World War the London School of
Dramatic Art was evacuated to Witney, taking up residen&eCGhurch
Green. Its principal, Miss Pickersgill, at once organiaggrofessional
repertory company and put on regular plays in a loft (witr@ng floor)
on the High Street. To find the theatre, @&zetteadvised, ‘go down the
yard at the side of Messrs Tite’s shop, and turn left th@sbudgerigars’.
Though popular, the company ran into financial problems aaitb
close after a few years. Present-day live theatre osiged by the
Witney Dramatic Society and other groups at the Corn Exchavigeh
was refurbished and opened as a public hall in the 1970s.

Witney Town Football Club proudly celebrated its centenary in
1985. Its traditional home was Marriotts Close, until itvegbto a new
ground on Downs Road in the early 1990s.
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The game of golf has had mixed fortunes locally. A cluls Vuest
formed in 1898, with a 9-hole course at Clement’s Field. phived
unsuitable and, after being suspended for a time, the clubewWasmed
in 1906. The new 9-hole course at Cogges Hill, with naturadrdazof
hedges, ponds and trees, was laid out by the professional Oktbed
University Golf Club. In 1907 there were about 70 members. How long
the club lasted after that is not known: no trace of it seEnremain
either on Cogges Hill or in the memory of elderly Withepple, though
the iron head of a golf club was ploughed up in the area. Pi@sgn
golfers are well catered for by Witney Lakes Club, Downadro

The Bull and the Angel public houses, with Saltmarsh and Dsuteivery
van outside the shop. The Bull Inn closed in 1969. (TW)

The Black Horse Inn, West End. Drawn by W. Seely c1850.
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The old four-arched humpbacked bridge. (WTC

The three-arched bridge replaced the old bridge in 1822; #sseplaced in 1925 with
a two-arched structure which was widened in 1967. (TW)
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CROSSROADS

Much of Witney’s significance stems from the fact thdieg on the
main road from London to Gloucester and westwards, aaccisssing
point of the river Windrush. The earliest roads tended ltowdhe tops
of ridges on high ground, as lower-lying land was often mairshyet
weather, and the iron wheels of carts made a thoroughlyeasgot
guagmire of road surfaces.

During the 16th century there was considerable trade in Hotadc
woven in Witney and sold in the main London cloth marketlatBvell
Hall. The carts or packhorses which transported the goddsnee
westwards with more wool for the weavers to process. dadsrthey
travelled were nearly all in an atrocious state.

Each parish was responsible for the upkeep of
whatever roads ran through it, and had to meet the
cost out of the parish rate. Later acts allowed
private companies to build roads and charge a toll,
collected at gates or turnpikes.

The turnpike linking Witney and Oxford via
Bladon was built in 1751; it is doubtful if it
reached a high, or even an acceptable standard of
engineering. Arthur Young described it thus:

‘...repaired in some places with stones as large as

could be brought from the quarry; and when

broken, left so rough as to be calculated foryjlestone near Staple
dislocation rather than for exercise’. In 1779 higall on the turnpike road
called the road from Witney to Northleach ‘so bad to Woodstock. (CG)
that it is a scandal to the country’.

In spite of Arthur Young's adverse comments, turnpiking maseh
improved the roads, for traffic along them increased coratie Fast
stage coaches regularly passed through Witney on their tway
Cheltenham and Gloucester. This caused some of the itine twfwn to
be enlarged to provide refreshment for passengers: the mashimga
inns were the Crown, the Blue Boar, later to be renared
Marlborough Arms, the King’'s Head, Staple Hall and the €oBy
1761 Thomas Costell was making use of the new turnpike road to
Oxford by running a regular coach between Burford and Londan vi
Witney, using the causeway across the Thames at Eynsharthi©
same causeway, in 1764, John Wesley’s mare lost her footingeangt
gave her master a ducking. He was riding from High Wycomtbeat
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time, on his way to preach in Witney. Five years later diwssing
became a routine instead of a hazard, for the Swinfordtiolge had
been built, and Mr Timson of Burford was running a regstage wagon
across it.

By the beginning of the 19th century things had greatly improved,
and a series of good turnpike roads radiated from Witnagh Foad had
its own toll house or ‘pike house’, as they were known locé@llye was
at the foot of the hill leading to Wood Green, and belongeth¢o
Burford-Campsfield Road Trust. Another, controlled by thaiury
Roads Trust, was in West End. A third pike house waststtuan the
corner of Oxford Hill and Church Lane in Newland. This gsgeved to
extract tolls on the Newland-Botley road. Toll prices eveet by Act of
Parliament. In 1812, when the Newland-Botley road wasgrezdi to
avoid Wytham Hill, the toll charges were: carriageshwitur wheels
fourpence; carriages with two wheels twopence; horddinge mare,
ass one penny; ox, bull, cow, steer, heifer a halfpenny afdseanhe,
sheep, lamb a farthing.

The pike house on the corner of Church Lane, Newland (aggtity which was pulled
down in the 1947 road widening. (OLL
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With growing competition from the railways, toll roads beeaess
profitable, and a Parliamentary commission made recommensldahat
roads should be ‘deturnpiked’, though it was not until 1880 that t
Newland-Botley road was freed of its tolls and the pikeskeowas sold
for £50. It was pulled down in 1947 when the road was widened.

Newland: the A40 before the road was widened in 1947. (TW)

Twenty first century travellers to Oxford can now use B¥9,
opened in 1947, which by-passes Eynsham to enter the Citheby
northern route. Heavy traffic in the centre of Witney becamee and
more of a problem as A40 users poured through in carscanes| on
their way between the west and London. This situation was much
improved by the opening of Witney's own bypass at Easter 19Tié
increase in traffic has, thirty years later, ledams in the town again,
and new solutions will have to be found.

The canal age had its effect on Witney, though the proposed
canalisation of the river Windrush to link the town to therbsa never
took place. A small spur canal from the Thames to a whataasington
meant that Witney was only six miles from a waterway esysthich
extended to Birmingham by way of the Oxford and Grand Uréoais,
and opened the way to the industrial wealth of the Midlaams its
coalfields. By way of the Thames, the great marketsaoidbn and the
world became much more accessible. In 1824 the Oxford canal

85



authorities gave the coal merchants of Witney a premainfour
shillings a ton, to stave off competition from the Tharaas Severn
canal's wharf at Lechlade.

The canals’ monopoly on cheap transport was short-livedjnfor
1861 the railway came to Witney. It only came after mucangling
between the Great Western Railway and the London and Norteklie
Railway. As early as 1836 a line connecting Tring, Oxfordneéyi and
Cheltenham was proposed, but nothing happened, on accouvalpf
between the different companies. By the 1850s matters had become
urgent: it was essential for Witney to be linked to ¢léside world by
railway, if the local blanket industry was to remain contpet with its
Yorkshire rivals. Not only would the transport of theidhed products
be cheaper, but the cost of bringing coal to the town woaldnbch
reduced. Without cheap coal, there could be no real modernigétioa
woollen industry, to take advantage of steam power.

After a public meeting held in Witney in December 1858, the
Witney Railway Company was formed under the chairmandhigadter
Strickland of Cokethorpe Park. Most of the capital for the oempany
came from local businesses: blanket makers, brewers and baalker
played their part.

The new line, opened in November 1861, was just over eight miles
long, and ran from Yarnton, where it joined the Oxford, \ester and
Wolverhampton Railway, to a station in Witney near the Chanzhjust
below Mount House. In 1873 the line was extended to Fairford in
Gloucestershire. At this time a new station was builh&gdouth of the
Church, and the original station became a goods yard.

Passenger station
looking west,soon
after WW2. the
bridge was the old
road to Ducklingtor

(TW)
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For people living in the villages surrounding Witney, the railway
was of little help in getting to the town's weekly markehey were
catered for by regular horse-drawn carrier servieglich left the
various public houses in Market Square, following set roteshe
villages. Later, of course, motor buses took their place.

The railway was a success, providing passenger servicesllaas
the much-needed goods trains, and taking on a particularly important
role in wartime. It ceased to be a Witney enterpnis&890 when the
Company sold the line to the GWR, which already provided the rolling
stock. It survived nationalisation after the Second Warlt, but not for
long. Better roads and the spread of car ownership led te@lmalén
business. British Rail policy dictated that passenger ssghbould close
down in 1962, and goods trains were finally stopped in 1970. ditse r
were removed and the 1873 station bulldozed; the two rusting bridges
over the Windrush are all that is left to remind Witnegpde that their
town once had a railway.

Stables at the back of what was the Crown Hotel. The vitob was demolished
in 1980 to make way for Langdale Gate. The foreground wasrCrawe leading to
Cogges. (OM)
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The Crownlnn, Market Square, ¢1880, replaced an older inn on thdtdited ceased 1
be an inn by the beginning of the 19th century; the buildingdeawlished in the late
1980s to make way for Langdale G

Staple Hall corner before the Oxford Road was widened in 1947).
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The carriers formed an important link between Witney anduiging villages. On
Thursdays the public houses near the market stayed open mibafteso passengers
could have a drink while waiting for the carrier's carbridal closing time was 2.30pm.
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Cheap day returns, 1897. From Saltmarsh & Druce’s pste li
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WITNEY AT WAR

Witney has been a peaceful place for most of its existgnee;
occasionally it has been caught up in some national dithimagh never
in a starring role.

The Norman Conquest had little effect on the people lignghe
estate of the Bishops of Winchester. As the Bishops had &borm
connections and sympathies even before the Conquest, they thalvieot
to relinquish their estates to Norman lords as many rséxegns did,
and so no drastic changes took place.

By the middle of the 12th century England was in a statevifvear
as Stephen and Matilda fought over the throne. Henry of ,Bté&phen's
brother, was Bishop of Winchester at the time. When Stephesectto
appoint him as Archbishop of Canterbury, Henry desertedimg and
sided with the Empress Matilda.

It was an age when the art of war consisted of layirgedie castles.
Henry of Blois turned his large manor house in Witney sumething
resembling a castle. The sight of the great new fortifinatto the
Bishop’s Palace must have caused much apprehension among Witney
people, as well as speculation as to who the rightfulmelat to the
throne really was. However, the rather uneventful confiias fought
out on other ground than Witney’s.

In 1551, Witney was one of the stopping-places for Lord &fay
Wilton, as he led 1,300 troops down to Devon to deal with Piagek
rebels. He summoned all the country gentry to Witneyafaneeting,
presumably to warn them to be on the lookout for popishenties. The
event must have caused quite a stir in the town.

In the late 16th century attempts were made to get the -j@ang
people of Witney to rise up against the landowners who weslesng
the open fields for sheep-runs. Caswell had been enclogethe
Wenman family, and large parts of Hailey had also bemmriosed. In
1596 Barth Steere of Hampton Gay tried to organise an upbsirthe
poor to tear down the enclosures. In his zeal he told his geppdthat
there were 100 men of Witney who would ‘go with them to throwrdow
enclosure’. His brother John, who lived in Witney, did not agveh
him. In the event John was right, for the Witney men failegutoin an
appearance. John Harcourt (gent) of Cogges, who was lateledanus
offering to be their leader, denied all knowledge of the plog. dfrising
fizzled out.

Anger against further enclosures was more forcefully expdess
March 1761, when a mob gathered at Northleigh Heath andeheshto
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pull down the enclosure fences. The troops were called iRitteAct
was read, but still the mob stayed on to shout insultseadffiters and
soldiers. After an hour the Justices ordered the solthedisperse the
mob and to take the ringleaders. Nine of them were arrestedthe
whole affair ended without serious bloodshed.

There was one other occasion when the population of Witney got
angry. This happened in 1800, when the price of grain wasaihse.
After remaining fairly static throughout the 18th centuryrase to
unheard-of heights during the last decade. In Witney, a pdtduofcost
25 0d in 1787. The price in 1798 was 2s 7d, and by 1800 it had gone up
to 4s 6d. This rise in price was the result of a seokslisastrous
harvests. It is not surprising that people were incendét better to
take their frustration out on than the miller? A gang fromtnég
marched to the mill at Fawler and threatened the nihiere.

Witney escaped fairly lightly during the Civil War, for noegt
battles were fought here. However, when King Charlesd based at
Oxford, he was in constant need of food and equipment $otrops,
and this placed a severe strain on the resources of tiomthe area.
From the Royal Ordnance Papers it is possible to get sieaeof the
demands made by the Royalist army. Witney was expectgvide it
with planks and timber, and to surrender the weapons beloimithge
town's trained band. These bands had been set up by law allhever t
country, and equipped by the towns to be used in casetobrriother
national emergencies. The Royal Ordnance Papers cont&inerory
of the arms taken from each town; the Witney list reéasthis:

Powder........c........... 1 barrel Brests.....cccccveevennnnn. 6
Match..................... 10 skeynes Backs......c.ccccceeen. 5
Musket shot............. 1 barrel Head peeces............ 6
Muskets................. 36 Sords.....ceeveeiiienennnnn. 6
Bandeleers............... 23 Long pikes............. 17
Bird peece................ 1 Clubb staffe............. 1
Carbines.......cccc........ 2 Broken sord............. 1

Girdles for bandeleers....4
8 Dec 1643
In the register of burials there are references to soldetrg) buried
in Witney: two in April 1643 and three in October of thaay.

During June 1644 there was much to-ing and fro-ing around Witney,
as the King tried to escape from Oxford, though the mamoptr
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movements passed north of the town on their way from Woodstock
Burford. While in Burford, the King billeted himself for tmeght at the
house of Wiliam Lenthall, the Speaker of Parliament, Vater, during
the Commonwealth, leased the manor of Witney. King Challen
marched on to Bourton on the Water, but found the way norttkédo
by General Waller’s troops. He decided to return to Oxfard] on the
nights of 18, 19 and 20 June he stayed at the White Hart, WWAne¢he
time the Royalist army comprised 6,000 men, and they weromeed
with a further 4,000 during the King’s stay in Witney. On 19 bk
peace of the town was again shattered, this time byeatioops, who
camped there overnight.

Cromwell himself may well have passed through Witney iayM
1649, on his way back to Oxford after suppressing the Lesetievolt
at Burford. There was a strong nonconformist elemerttaridwn at the
time, represented by many of the leading families, sscthe@ Gunnes
and the Warrings, who would have been on the side of the Panliary
army. But there is no record that the people of Witney évek an
active part in the turmoil of the Civil War. They probablytdth
whichever army was in the district.

In the 1860s fear of war led to military preparations all aher
country. Witney’s contribution was to form a volunteer Ri@erps.
Called the 5th Oxfordshire, it took part in camps, exescasnd parades
for several years.

The impact of the great
1914-18 conflict must have been
the same on Witney as on most
other small towns, with enormous
patriotic jubilation giving way to
realisation of the futility and waste
of war. Young men volunteered to
go to the front. A committee for
Belgian refugees was set up, and
the refugees themselves were
housed at No 64 Bridge Street.

No 31 West End was a
public house called the King of
Prussia. The name obviously had
to go, so it was called the Czar of
Russia instead. Later still another

, ] , change became necessary and it
Leaving Witney station for War, October

1914. (DD)
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acquired the patriotic (and inoffensive) name of House ioidéor.

It seems that there were some evacuees from London mey\iih
the latter part of the war. In October 1917 the school ingpedited the
National School on Church Green and found ‘the offices’ (preblyma
the lavatories) in a dirty condition: the seats needed scrulaldghe
ledges needed dusting. Mr Hayter, the head teacher, explamethe
trouble was caused by London children, who had come to eduape-
raids and were ‘not under the usual control'.

A strange spectacle in Market Square. This captureth@eaircraft was put on
show in various towns for fund-raising purposes. (TW)

An important event late in the war was the building oftri&y
Airfield, on the land later taken up by the Smith’s Industgemplex
north of the town. German prisoners of war were brought ievel the
site, and the buildings and hangars were put up by Portuguekersvor
The airfield became operational as a Training Depati@t for the
Royal Flying Corps aircrew in March 1918. From then on Witrexypie
became accustomed to the sight and sound of Bristol Figlgepsvith
Pups and other aircraft, and to meeting the young traitets in the
local shops and public houses.

The Belgian refugees, German prisoners and Portuguese svorker
were not the only foreigners to be seen in and around Witnéhose
days for, in April 1918, according to th&itney Gazetiethere were
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Americans and Canadians stationed at the airfield. Sdeiah the town

was much improved, and baseball matches were played on the Ley
However, the grim reality was that 157 men from Witney lbstrt

lives. They are commemorated on the War Memorial on Charekn.

War Memorial on Church Green.

This inscribed stone is in the wall of the
entrance to the Churchyard from the Leys.

September 1939 found Witney quietly preparing for whatever
unpleasantness was to come. As in every other town, itengs had to
get used to blacking out their windows every night, diggingviciory
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and economising on food and fuel, as rationing became more aed mor
severe.

The armed forces claimed large numbers of young men, ado s
found themselves in parts of the world they had barely heaahadf
certainly had not expected to visit. 35 of them lostrthees, some in
the Far East, two in North Africa and some in Europeéyiding six who
died in Normandy during the fighting that followed the D-Dawgdings
in the summer of 1944. Men and women from Witney served in many
different branches of the Forces.

At home, Air Raid Precautions had to be organised. WoakiGr
housed the headquarters of No 4 Area ARP Civil Defence gsrvaf
Oxfordshire. A large concrete air raid shelter struckissaddant but
necessary note on Church Green. The unmusical tones of theveire
heard on the first Monday of every month at 1pm sharp, westing
took place.

In November 1940 ARP members were called upon to test #igir s
for a lone enemy aircraft made a surprise raid on the tantre. A large
number of houses were damaged, and windows were shaittetbd
Church, the Council Offices, the Police Station and trer@®ar School,
as well as in a number of shops. Fortunately no-one sdff@gous
injury, though some cuts and bruises were reported.

Luckily for Witney, this was the only time bombs fell in tiogvn. In
fact, it was considered to be a safe area, and targbers of evacuees
arrived from London within days of the outbreak of war. At &md of
September 1939 there were 400 on the area: 200 unaccompanied school
children and 200 others, mostly mothers with young children. An
Evacuation Relief Fund was opened; it was much needed. fifbiat
Christmas of the war two huge parties for childrenen®zld, one at the
Corn Exchange and one at the Drill Hall (now the Langdale .H&tiput
850 young guests met Father Christmas, yelled at Punch dpdahd
gazed at the beautifully decorated tree.

In September 1940 the boys of Ashford Grammar School, Kent,
arrived. After spending their first night sleeping in thedaee Cinema,
they were taken to their billets, and later to Witney fdrar School
(now Henry Box), where a two-shift system enabled the fehools to
share buildings and sports facilities for several months.

Witney people were quick to support the war effort inrgweay.
The Women’'s Voluntary Service worked hard to collect money,
bandages and clothes for the Witney Red Cross Hospital SDeplgt,
to send wherever they were needed. Women'’s Institute meikihities
with a will.
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Men aged up to 65 were invited to join the Local Defence
Volunteers, later to be re-named the Home Guard. Many respcaae
found themselves taking part in regular parades and eggras well as
doing more mundane jobs, like filling sandbags for Civil De&
purposes. On one exercise, reported inQkrd Mail they joined with
the Civil Defence to repel simulated ‘airborne troopMuch of the
fighting was in West End and Mill Street, and it wasMill Street that
some tear gas was used, to the discomfiture of some padssamd
motorists’.

In 1940 an appeal for blood donors brought in 236 volunteers. Huge
nation-wide fund-raising efforts were generously supportedngrthese
were the Spitfire Fund, War Weapons Week and Warship \&ek.
Weapons Week in September 1941 featured parades of theeSeand
Sounding the Retreat by the band of the Oxfordshire and
Buckinghamshire Light Infantry. There were displays by fmwvn
Band, the Brize Norton Band, the Home Guard and the ARRelhss
low flying and ‘dive-bombing’ over the town by the RAF. In addition
there were three dances, a variety concert, an exhibdiomlitary band
concert, several cinema shows and a drumhead service on Grerth

Witney Airfield played a vital part in the war effort, fidrwas used
as a repair base for de Havilland aircraft. Tiger Mothgrrielnes and
Spitfires, among others, were brought in regularly for cuarbetween
1941 and 1945.

A panorama of de Havillar's, 1943. (DD)
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A Second World War pill-box stands guard over the Windru€ogges. (CG)

If the German army tried to cross the Windrush, the HGuard
would give them a hard time from this makeshift pill-boxeféhwere
three of them in Witney. If the enemy crossed the river wauld be
zapped in Mill Street.

World War Il slits for sniparsMill Street. (CG)
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Advertisment in the Witney Official Guide c1950

Crawford & Co were evacuated to the old Workhouse on Toweér Hil
during World War 1l. They brought most of their stafffwvihem, and did
extensive renovations to the old Workhouse buildings. The Chagel
used as a canteen and a hall for social gatherings. Theyretwered to
Tottenham after the war, remaining in Witney till thedgsed down.
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Highworth Place. Early council housing built for ex-servicenadter the First
World War. Originally the field was called Highworth Pieead the rents from the land
went to support the poor of Highworth in GloucestersiiZ&)

The old Police Station on Church Green, built in 1860 by &¥illWilkinson, is
now used by Henry Box School. The modern Police StationWéeich Way. (CG)
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OF COURT AND COUNCIL

In the first decade of the 13th century Bishop Peter des Roches
formed the new Borough of Witney alongside the existinggella

In order to attract people to his new development he graetedin
privileges to the inhabitants. The charter awarding thesésrigds not
survived, but in 1256 another Bishop of Winchester, who was also a
founder of towns, granted a charter to Newtown on thee d§lWight,
giving it the same liberties and free customs as thos&aginton,
Witney, Alresford and Farnham. Under their chartersttvens were
allowed to have their own court with their own bailiffs, aidprofit
from the fines of the court, except for fines from the uséhefpillory
and the tumbril, which went to the Bishop.

The inhabitants of the Borough were also excused from hawing t
attend the Bishop’s manor court, which was compulsory fherot
residents of the manor, though they did have to attendiatibe-yearly
Bampton hundred court.

The borough court became the form of local government dunmg t
middle ages, with its own officers. It was ruled by twditis, who gave
judgements and organised the affairs of the town, withhtip of the
other officers and the chief citizens of the Borough.

The rules made by the court were starkly down-to-earthy T¥ere
concerned with making people remove the dung-heaps outside their
houses, and ensuring that any pigs running loose were ringedvent
them from digging holes in the streets; all very necessany agea when
there was no inside sanitation, and not much outside eitheptee an
open drain running down the middle of the High Street, andedoby
many small footbridges.

The Tudor town was divided into five wards, each withkaadsman.
Paternoster Ward consisted of the west side of ChurearGand Market
Place. East Ward was on the east side of the sanstsstbeit included
some of the High Street. West Ward was Corn Streethendest side of
the High Street. The rest of the High Street formeddi#é Ward. The
Ward Beyond the Bridge went as far as Staple Hall and indl|te
west side of West End.

The wardsmen were the equivalent of aldermen in largens.
Their job was to report to the court minor offences, sashselling
underweight loaves of bread or below-strength ale, allowigg o
wander, causing minor breaches of the peace and blockingaithevitin
dung-heaps. They were helped in their work by officials appdi by
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the court. There were two ale-testers to check thatlievas fit for
human consumption and not diluted. There were also twdenars,
whose job was to inspect all meat offered for sale.

Besides being responsible for keeping up standards in meattbrs
and in weights and measures, the court was also igelshmaintaining
standards in tanning and the manufacture of leather goodsinahe
weaving of cloth. Officers were appointed to inspectitiand leather,
and deal with any unacceptable practices.

Under Tudor legislation the parish became the unit of local
government, taking over from manorial rule. The Vestry became
responsible for the administration of the Poor Law, and for the
appointment of a parish constable and a surveyor of highways

During the 16th century and the early part of the 17th, the borough
court and the Vestry did not come into conflict as to whowdidth job,
as they were, by and large, made up of the same peoyleth&igrowth
of nonconformity in the town and the wane of the borough cauitie
mid-17th century, some conflict did arise between the bmedies,
especially over the payment of poor relief. The Vestsysted not only
on its right to administer the funds, but on confining paymeats
Sundays after prayers. So those who failed to ‘signabi©hurch were
unable to collect their dole. The borough court retained coofrthe
charities that had been left to it.

By the mid-17th century the borough court had gone into decline
and, although it still existed until 1925, the functioraafal government
was carried on by the Vestry, though the bailiffs adrtenesi some of
the charities for the poor. The job of controlling the quatifycloth
passed over to the Blanket Company. As in other small towns and
villages, the Vestry struggled through the 17th and 18th centuwies t
administer the affairs of the town.

The borough court only had jurisdiction over the old Boroogh
Witney, which did not include Wood Green and the east sid&/ext
End. They were both in Hailey, and came under the jatisdi of the
manor court, as did the lower half of Corn Street, whies in the
parish of Curbridge. It was not until the local governmentgasation
of 1894 that the boundaries were changed to include Wood Green.

By the 19th century, drastic reform was needed in the ma&ion of
local government to meet with the greater complexity ef [ithe Local
Government Act of 1863 allowed for the setting up of Local Bosyds
take over the civic duties of the Vestry and oversee mudheohew
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Victorian legislation. The Witney Board was replaced by tthean
District Council in 1895.

A large part of the work of the UDC concerned the provision of
clean, safe drinking water for the townspeople. Uhgllbeginning of the
20th century, all the drinking water in Witney came from svellhe
problem was that they were all too often situated negorities, and the
pollution that resulted led to outbreaks of cholets Wells belonging

The High Street ¢c1804. The drain running down the centre obé#tukis clearly visible.
Many of the houses have changed since this painting was nmettiéldise (top centre)
is clearly recognisable. (TW)

to the properties on the east side of the High Street faghg free
from contamination, as the burgage plots were long enougtote a
good distance between the wells and the privies. In Corn Street
however, conditions were more cramped, and the privies and midden
tended to drain into the wells.
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During the 1890s the Witney Board had an energetic sanitary
inspector, Dr William Dyson Wood, who found that many g town
wells were in an unhealthy state. In the drought of 1894, nwsevells
ran dry. Ninety houses in Corn Street had to get thaiemfrom a public
well on Church Green, and of the 15 wells in The Crofts bmtygave
an adequate supply. In view of all these problems, the rfewiyed
UDC decided that a piped water supply was needed.

It was not until 1903 that the work was completed. A deelb was
sunk near Apley Barn in the Windrush Valley. In order to mteuhe
town with a greater water pressure, a grand brick wateer was built,
with a large metal tank on the top, holding 80,000 gallons.

The new system opened with all due pomp and ceremonytdn la
1903, though the joys of this first supply were short-lived. Onfgva
months later, disaster struck. A poem from the Witney Gazells the
sad story:

Water Towe Great sensatio
Tank on top Council run,
Filled with water And people too,
Went off pop To see the fun.
Sudden strain, Poor little lambs,
Sides bent, With names belov
Consequently So proudly raised,
Big rent. Dishonoured so.
Losing water, It's not our fault
Like a crock Perhaps they’ll say
To the council But who will have
Quite a shock. To paypay pay?

The ‘names below’ were those of the Urban District cdlors on
the plague that was placed at the foot of the toweradt tost the
ratepayers £12, and had caused strong criticism to be vaitkd local
paper.

A second attempt to build a water tower had the same unéid
result, but the third tower was a success, lasting untlbeitame
redundant with the opening of the Worsham waterworks, wsatved
Witney's water problems. The water tower was never ablsupply
enough water for the growing needs of the town, especifity the
building of the Airfield towards the end of the First WorldkV
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The bulging Wate
Tower, showing tt
plaque above the dc
with the councillors
names ‘so proudy

raised.
(Tw)

If water has been a source of concern, fire has allvega a major
worry in Witney. Even in Tudor times we find a hint betproblems in
the court books: ‘Order by the bailiffs that every household#&itney
to have standing or set without his street door on every frigmt this
court day until 29 September next one tub, cowl, barrel, pail,gpan
cauldron with water in readiness against fire on paiGaffor every
default to the contrary.” Whether this ruling about fire buckeis made
in response to a particular fire, or just as a genefetys measure, we
shall never know.

The first serious fire in the town about which anything is kmevas
in 1734. Monk says: ‘...a calamity of rather a sericaisire occurred at
Witney. A fire broke out in a tallow chandler’'s shop, andbeit could
be subdued, 30 houses were completely destroyed.’
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Leyland Fire Engine 1937, at the fire station behind the Cechdhge. (TW)

In 1875 the town at last got its own volunteer Fire Brigadebéte
Smith, son of William Smith, the founder of Smith’'s Mijll was
instrumental in forming it. He was well aware of tmeguency of mill
fires and, after a blaze in Bridge Street Mill, he ansl tolleagues
decided that something must be done. Buckets of water wereviayno
adequate to deal with a house fire, let alone one in aSoilthey formed
a group of volunteers, and obtained a fire engine. Aftet tha
townspeople had fewer worries about the risk of fireugoin 1879 the
service was tested and found wanting. A fire broke outhatnhop
factory of T. and W. Early in the High Street, andtd®s&d it ‘despite
its being within a few yards of the river and behind the $tation in
Millin’s Yard. Two engines arrived too late, one havingmheelayed by
the refusal of two individuals to lend horses to draw it.” Wdigney
Gazettedoes not identify the two unfriendly individuals.

The original Fire Brigade had its headquarters in Mdliiyard,
behind what is now 101 High Street, and continued to operatetfrere
as a horse-drawn unit until 1927. Its responsibility wasHe municipal
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area of Witney only; in the 1920s this did not include Cogges or
Newland. After a ruinous fire at Pritchard’s Glove WorksNewland,
which the Witney Fire Brigade refused to attend, the UR¥pp=d in to
organise a larger Fire Brigade.

An old barn behind the Corn Exchange became the new
headquarters, and a second-hand 1915 London fire engine was bought
for £250. It lasted until 1937, when it was honourably retirddvwour of
a new engine which cost £900. The Fire Service now has a modern
headquarters built for it in the 1960s on the Welch Way developm

The Fire Station in Welch Way, built in the 1960s. (CG)
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Witney Mill in Mill Street after the fire of 1905. It vearebuilt as a two storey
building. The chimney at the back is still standing. (TW)

The horse-drawn fire engine 1889. (TW)
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The old wooden bridge across the Windrush on Langel CommtinQegges Church
in the background. In 1897 the road was re-aligned to the wist ohurch, and the
wooden bridge replaced with an iron one. (TW)

The 1985 bridge. The path was widened to allow for a cyab (C@
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Five and ten pound notes issued by Gillett's Bank in Witney,.1913
(OMS: Acc951 & 949)
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IN BUSINESS

Until modern times, Witney enjoyed its greatest prosperityha
Tudor period. During the latter half of the 16th century, ®iihe
country was regaining its strength after recurring boutplafjue, the
town grew steadily.

Ever since the Black Death the Bishops of Winchester hawleth
out more and more of their land to tenants, so acquinognie from
rents rather than farm produce. By 1453 all the demesnecesdét out.
While the Bishops were actively engaged in agriculture, thegt
meticulous account rolls, from which we learn that iswlaeir practice
to send unprocessed wool from their estates to marketendadn and
Winchester, though frequently large quantities were dtor&Vitney for
years, before being taken away to be sold.

As the Bishops relinquished their agricultural role, so rothe
entrepreneurs came forward to take their place. Thesemolvbarons
enclosed land for sheep, and were able to buy up wool froserles
farmers, who did not have the resources to send their pradufetr as
the London market. The Bishops’ lack of interest in wool prodoc
combined with the inability of many small landowners and tesném
raise capital to market their wool in London, may well hagen among
factors encouraging the growth of Witney’s weaving industryvadbdl
could be spun and woven in Witney and the finished cloth &gbdo
the great City of London, then higher profits could be made faom
cartload of woven cloth than from a cartload of unsponlw

The 1530s and '40s were boom years in the cloth trade. Wity ha
one vastly rich man: Richard Wenman, ‘a merchant of thples. In
1524 the total tax bill for the town was £55 3s 8d, of which a stampge
£43 6s 8d was Wenman's contribution. When he died in 1543 he left
over £2,000 in cash, as well as property in many of the surrayndi
parishes.

Although the Wenmans were by far the richest family in tavare
were others who enjoyed great affluence in Tudor Witney.Feneors
were wool merchants with land in many neighbouring parishiesmas
Fermor, who died in 1485, was buried with his wife in Wjtrimut,
although the family continued to hold land in the area tjnout the
Tudor period, they were not resident in the town.

After Wenman, the 1544 subsidy roll gives Edward Wilmot as the
next richest resident: his coat of arms can be seen iChiiech. He
moved to Witney from Abingdon in about 1540. The Wilmot family had
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enclosed lands at Stadhampton and Chislehampton, and thegym
came from sheep and wool. Edward Wilmot was trading woolhen t
Calais market at the time of the fall of Calais.

By the middle of the 16th century the wealthy families tendedeto b
cloth merchants rather than wool merchants: theyded the Gunnes,
Colliers, Pennys, Yates and many others. The occupatid@#0diVitney
residents during the period 1545-1609 are known: 46% of them were
connected with the weaving industry.

Along with the prosperity of the clothiers the town grew filuahce
and business flourished. Most trades were represented hncg6tury
Witney. There were bakers, butchers, fishmongers and habelashe
Skilled building workers were to be found, as well as gieveanners,
saddlers, smiths, cobblers and shoemakers. There wasuebt that a
citizen from one of the surrounding villages could not buy in Witne
Many of the wealthy families had connections in London: onthete
was the Box family, who later founded the Grammar School.

The 17th century did not get off to a good start, for in 1587 t
parish register records 140 deaths, with the words, ‘Fronurtkeown
disease that the Lord has inflicted on us. May He haareyron us.” The
average yearly number of burials for the end of the 16th gentas 25,
so 1597 was truly disastrous. Over the whole of the 17th cethi@typtal
numbers of births and deaths in the town were about eguhlbirths
exceeding deaths in some years and the reverse in otheisg Ehe
18th century there was a gradual improvement. The last year more
people died than were born was 1720; after that the bétéh nose
steadily. There was an increase in prosperity over ti@excountry, and
Witney was not left behind.

As the blanket industry grew stronger, so did trade. The wgibte
trace of this rising prosperity can be seen today in tbetd of the
houses and shops in the older parts of the town, many of daierfrom
the period between 1700 and 1840, though the backs of some buildings
are considerably older. Georgian changes to frontagedltee roof
line, to give more headroom to the upper storeys, so thay ofathese
altered houses give the impression of being two and a badfyst high.
These new house fronts tended to be given an ashlar or stisty iin
an attempt to make them appear of more expensive cut Sktee.
wealthier merchants built themselves new houses at Wood @rekn
West End.

The 1800s saw the beginnings of many businesses, some of which
survived into the last decade of the 20th century. In 1796 theeWand
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Oxfordshire Bank was established on the Hill. It later mot@dhe
premises next to the Marlborough Hotel which are now occupyjed
Barclay's Bank. The founders of this first bank were thm tiwothers
Augustine William Batt (1774-1847) and Edward Batt (1774-1827), and
John M. Buckshell. The latter probably ran the bank, while Bag
brothers put up the money. Unfortunately it ran into diffiesl after a
few years, and in 1815 the three principals were declared bankhgyt
were bought out by John Williams Clinch. The Clinch fangtpbably
settled in Witney around 1780, when John Clinch married a Witnky gir
Hannah Ashfield, though their local connections may go backhmu
further, as Oxfordshire parish registers record the nain@inch from
the early 17th century. The family were mostly engagddriming. John
Clinch is described as a banker in his will of 1827, but he ales a
businessman dealing in wool, malting and farming, as well asngwn
public houses and land. He had two sons, James and JohanWillT he
latter became a banker after the collapse of Batt’'s Baihide vhis
brother James became a brewer.

The bank survived in the hands of the Clinch family until thehdea
of John Williams in 1871 and his son (another James) in 1876.\dowe
by 1867 it was in trouble, for John Williams had taken caghobthe
banking business that was not rightfully his. When James tiied,
brother William found himself in a bad way financially,rihabecause
the bank had been badly managed and partly because he Hadshbtke
the gambling debts of one of his brothers. To solve his money preblem
he sold his controlling interest to Charles and Alfred Gjllgankers in
Banbury and Oxford. The bank then traded as Messrs GiltetiClinch
but, with the death of William Clinch in 1891, it became knoam
Gillett & Co.

Although the Gilletts’ main bank was
in Banbury, they were no strangers to
Witney, for members of the family had
farms at South Leigh. Theirs was not the
only bank operating in Witney during the
closing years of the 19th century. The
Birmingham Banking Company
established a branch in 1885, which
became the Metropolitan Bank in 1894,
and amalgamated with the Midland Bank
in July 1914. Gillett's Bank was finally
taken over by Barclays in 1903.
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The Batt family settled in Witney in about 1735, and fronmthstil
1903 there was always a member of the family practisirdjaine in the
town. Dr Charles Dorrington Batt, (1845-1926), was the lashefite.
Between 1823 and 1857, members of the Batt family were regpmnsi
for running a private madhouse, which was opened in April 1823.
Jackson's Oxford Journalfor 12 April carries the following
advertisement for it: ‘To Parents and Guardians: Edvigat, surgeon
etc, having been solicited to open a house for the receptipersons
labouring under diseases of the mind, begs to state thhaheow
accommodation for patients of that description near todsglence, in
Witney, Oxfordshire. Terms and other particulars may be know
application to him.’

The madhouse was established at No 33 High Street, thersite
which the present Congregational Church stands. It wasslked to
receive 20 patients, though numbers never exceeded 16, mostgnw
There were probably never more than four male patiemseatime. The
sexes did not meet, for the men’s and women’s quarters segarated
by two boundary walls more than ten feet high.

A family business established in the first half of the X@&htury was
that of the Clarkes, ironmongers in the High Street. Thewias started
by Thomas Clarke, born in July 1813. As a young man he had been
employed by Mr Clarke Hartley, who worked on the fitting-cf
Clinch’s Brewery. In 1839 Hartley's business was taken byevliessrs
Staple and Lea, and Thomas Clarke set up on his ownrim Etoeet,
doing general tinsmith work. In 1863 he moved to larger prernmste
High Street, part of which had been the male windghefrhadhouse. The
shop front is still there, though it is now a café. Old Tasr@larke must
have been skilled with his hands, for he was reputed tblbé@make a
complete miniature tea service out of a five-shilling piece

Ironmongery seems to be a trade that remains in thdyfdoni
several generations: Leigh’s of Market Square was anotherpéxarna
business going back to the early 19th century. It closed in A0@Gfirm
was founded by Samuel Lea, born in 1801. During the 19th geittur
expanded to include iron-founding, corn milling at Farm Mitid the
sale and repair of farm implements, and during the early qgfathe
twentieth century there was a petrol pump outside the slopu& Lea
took as his apprentice Alfred Lea Leigh, so called bseahis mother,
Samuel Lea's sister, had married Thomas Leigh of Swindbtrhis
children used the name Lea Leigh.
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Leigh & Sons. Note the early petrol pump on the pavemesidau{TW)

Leigh’s warehouse, Marlborough Lane. (TW)

The building trade has always been important to Witnaythe
Victorian period the architecture of the town was very mtoé
responsibility of two brothers, George (1813-1890) and William
Wilkinson (1819-1901). George’s most important contribution was the
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construction of the Workhouse in 1836. It stood on the streetateat |
became known as Tower Hill. During the Second World War the
building was taken over by Crawford Collets Ltd. Most leé priginal
Workhouse has now been demolished, to be replaced by housing.

The Workhouse in
derelct state befol
being taken over |
Crawford Collets i
WWIL. (PB)

William Wilkinson was, as far as Witney goes, a far muoralific
builder than his brother. He was responsible for the first@dtation
(1860), near the entrance to Henry Box School, as well agwbe
chapels and the lodge at the cemetery (1857), and the almshouses i
Saint Mary’s churchyard. At the age of 38 he left Witneylite in
Oxford, where he designed many public buildings, including the
Randolph Hotel. One of his specialities was the desigmadel farm
buildings: many of his Gothic farm cottages can be semmadr\Witney.

Most of the old Witney mill buildings were the work of a dbc
builder-cum-architect, William Cantwell. The latter fhaf the 19th
century brought the modernisation of the weaving process from
handlooms to power looms which, of course, needed to be housed in
mills rather than in cottages and weaving sheds. ltGedwell who did
most of this work. He re-designed New Mill after itstdestion by fire
in 1883, and supervised the improvements and additions to it thnaugho
the decade. Witney Mill in Mill Street was also his ars was William
Smith’s mill in Bridge Street. The impressive frontagésthese two
mills can still be seen, though the buildings have beewvarted into
modern flats and offices. One of his buildings was the Newland
Warehouse: it is now gone for ever, for a huge fire destrayadlB75,
and the remains had to be demolished. The gap has Wleenbiy a
residential estate.
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Though many of the important buildings in the town were dedigne
by either the Wilkinson brothers or William Cantwell, thaimbuilders
were Bartlett Brothers Ltd, in the High Street. The fivas started by
Malachi Bartlett, who settled in Witney in about 1836, éndd at 37
West End. He started working with James Long, and helgtd the
building of the 1850 Wesleyan Chapel in the High Street. By 1852
Bartlett had established his own business with his sontGpinier, at 94
High Street. Later, they moved to larger premises at Nosnd 73,
afterwards acquiring 75 as well. Like all old Witney pedies, each of
these buildings had a considerable amount of land, sohhddrtletts
had room to develop a large construction company. They installed a
steam-driven saw and machine shop; they burned their own lamcks
had a lime-kiln. Many of their Witney buildings were maestone; to
supply this they had their own quarries, employing no fewan th0
men. Bartlett’s is no more and the builders’ yard is howsing, though
one old building now accommodates the Witney Town Museum.

Witney has always been well-endowed with inns and ale-kolise
the 19th century, when the population was less than 6,000, vleeee
over 30 inns, most of which still exist today. The brewinglef started
as soon as the town was founded: one of the rights grantetdeby
Bishops of Winchester to the citizens of all their new towas to hold
the assize of bread and ale. This meant that the tould eppoint its
own inspector to check on the quality of all beer brethede.

At first, the brewing of beer was a
small-scale affair, with most inns and
many households brewing their own.
Then, during the 19th century, the idea of
tied inns gradually spread. Brewing
became more centralised, purpose-built
breweries were established and their
owners bought up inns, which then sold
only their special brand of beer. In
Witney, this important industry was
carried on by three major breweries.

The largest and the longest-lived was

Clinch's Eagle Brewery. The first hint of the involvementhe Clinch
family in brewing is when James Clinch, son of John@lithe banker,
bought the Fleece Inn in 1811. Witney parish register for 1820sréb
James Clinch as a ‘brewer/woolstapler’, &ggot's Directoryfor 1823
describes him as a maltster. During the 1830s, severayestt@est of
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Church Green were demolished to make way for the new Idinc
Brewery. The scale of the 19th century business can be jddmadhe
fact that in 1891 Clinch’s owned 72 tied public houses scattetegebn
Oxford and Swindon. The brewery continued to function utfi62,
when it was taken over by Courage’s, and in 1963 brewing doppe
building became a supply depot. Even this ceased in 1978, andimos
the brewery was pulled down, the site becoming a small indusstiate.
However, in 1982 the Glenny Brewery, now the Wychwood Brewery
started up, using the old maltings area of the Eaglessitéye tradition
has not been lost.

Clinch’s greatest rival was the Blanket Hall Brewestarted some
time after 1844 by William Smith, the founder of Bridge Stidéls, in
collaboration with Joseph Early. 1844 was the year when the Blanke
Company, its relevance to modern blanket-making gone, sold the Hal
‘with the kitchens, outhouses, yard and garden’, for £200 toaEtiw
Early, the blanket manufacturer. In the outbuildings was theibge

plant, complete with casks,

which had been used to provide
refreshment at the many

meetings and feasts of the
Blanket Company. This seemed
to Edward Early an excellent

opportunity for his son Joseph
and William Smith to set up a

brewery. The original plant had a
capacity of 12 bushels, which the
two partners expanded; but when
the question of how the

expansion was to be paid for
arose, they could not agree. The
partnership broke up. William

Smith carried on alone, and

expanded the business siill
further.

Clinch’s Eagle Brewery, 1939.
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‘A Pictorial Map Showing the Area covered by Clinch & Od's Eagle Brewer
Witney' 1939
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His lease on the Blanket Hall was only a yearly one, andaEtiw
Early gave him notice to quit. According to William thissva move to
try to restore the partnership, as business by this tinge pnafitable.
However, he felt that he was not getting a good enough deamawetl
all his brewing plant to Bridge Street, where he set up/Nthée Hart
Brewery. This establishment was still working in 1854, butbabdy
came to an end soon after that, as William became mode more
involved in the mop-making business.

Joseph Early continued to brew beer at the Blanket biatllby 1869
the brewery was operated by the Shillingford brothersl amother
change of management is shownkKially’s Directory of 1881, which
lists Arthur Bateman of the Blanket Hall Brewery. Bysthime it must
have been quite a large business for, when Clinch’s boughitiin
1890, it owned 23 tied houses. After the takeover, the Blanket Hall
Brewery buildings were used by the company of Dale and Sl e
mineral water factory, which operated until the Secondl&ar.

William Gillett, a member of the banking family, was #rer
Witney citizen attracted to brewing. In 1860 he was running the
Britannia Brewery in the square behind the Corn Exchanges Thi
brewery traded until 1875, when it was sold. The noticsald described
it as ‘consisting of a brewhouse, workroom, 2 hop rooms overaind
necessary appliance for carrying on a 20 bushel brewery d&eshe
brewery there were four public houses: the Eagle and the Ckeaquer
Corn Street, the Lamb in Crawley, and the Strickland Arms
Ducklington. All these public houses were bought by Hunt's Brewé
Bicester, who had an agency and a small brewery at the Kaglés.
There were several other small breweries in the towrmtiet important
being run by Thomas Hains in Corn Street.

During the 19th century the grocery trade was important. One
business from those times was Saltmarsh and Druce of Madkere.
They no longer have a retail grocery shop, but are still aimee spirit
merchants.

There were many small groceries dotted about the town, dutadist
prominent business was Tarrant and Sons, of 32 and 36 MapkateS
The shop was started in 1832 by Mr Warrington, who had aghbblise
demolished in order to build it. In about 1840 the business wabyrun
Edgar Smith, and in 1851 it was taken over by William Tarravho
greatly expanded it to include the Corn Street Stores and arshdest
End.
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The corner of Corn Street and Market Square, c18®&Qyiag Warringtons shop a
the Lamb and Flag Inn. These were pulled down to build a ngerlahop. The Re
Lion on the other corner still exists. J Rose becamghLand Son.

Unfinished drawing by W Seely.

The same corner as above, ¢1845. (OMS:85.105.10)
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Tarrant’s was a wholesale as well as a retail busitiessen had a
banana-ripening room, built in 1907. On the night of the coronation
George V a fire broke out in the shop, causing so much dathagé
was not able to reopen until about a year later, in April 1B12919 the
Market Square shop was sold to Percy Bartlett. After athanges the
buildina was sold for re-development in 1960.

Christmas display at the Corn Street Stores. They mened by W. H. Tarrant. (TW)

The front cover of the Saltmarsh and Druce’s catalogue of 18&7sAop we
opened in 1873. It closed early in thé'2&ntury.
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The nearest thing to a department store in 19th centuttyeWivas
Valentine and Barrell, who advertised themselves as saitivapers and
furniture dealers. Their main shop was in the centre afkist Square,
on the site which is now a café. They also traded from 22&nd 31
Market Square. In 1898 A.E. Barrell bought the patent narhe
Witney Blanket Company’ from the drapers Fred Clapper and &b, a
set up a mail order business in connection with the firm oéntade and
Barrell. In 1913 this company had its headquarters at 39 andadideM
Square, now an insurance broker.

New premises were built on The Leys in 1920, only to be destroyed
by fire in 1921. They were rebuilt, and trading went on W&83, when
Barrell sold out to Henry Ltd, who continued to run a nwiller
business. The buildings now house a shop and other commercial
premises.

Another shop of importance in the late Victorian era @manto the
20th century was Cook and Boggis, Cash Drapers and Clothiers,
Wholesale and Retail, of 3 Market Square. Fire, a potacefin the
commercial history of Witney, struck on 12 December 1964yagsy
the building. A new supermarket, Waitrose, was built on ttee Bi its
turn, this was partly demolished in the mid 1980s to form thauece to
the Woolgate shopping centre and Waitrose complex.
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There was something for everybody in enterprising 19th century
Witney. As well as these large businesses, there weng smaller ones,
like George Wiliams of Corn Street, a birdcage makehekV the
occupant of the cage succumbed to old age, its grieving ogautd
always call upon the skill of William Ball, Hairdressend Taxidermist,
of Wood Green on the other side of town. Though there wagr et
need to go shopping in Oxford, those who enjoyed a change of scene
found the train journey an easy one, especially as theg t@imet by
Mr Payne’s horse-drawn bus on their parcel-laden return.

In the past the production of blankets and other woven cloth was
Witney's biggest and best-known industry, but it was not the oné
After all, Witney was a market town serving a largeiadgtural
community, and therefore much of its industry was basetie@ndeds of
the farmers.

There were several blacksmiths and farriers in the tasnvell as
wagon and coach builders and agricultural implement repaiféne
blacksmiths were also able to repair the steam engines thbgrwere
introduced into the woollen mills. Tanning and glovemakingewero
more 19th century industries: the glove making was very muckiage
industry, requiring no machinery.

It was not until the Second World War that new industmyeain
the form of the de Havilland Company, which set up an atrcephir
unit in the old Witney Aerodrome. At its peak the company eygd
1,200 people. Its presence meant that the blanket industry wasges
the only large employer of local labour, and also that aad useful
skills were introduced to the area. De Havilland rentime Witney
until August 1949, when the company returned to its factory at
Leavesden in Hertfordshire.

The site of the old aerodrome was sold to Smith’s of Emglavho
transferred their motor accessories division there, sed up the
manufacture of motor car heaters. It was to becomeatgedt employer
in the area, with the exception of Morris Cars at Cgwiehich later
became British Leyland. A writer in th&itney Gazettedescribing the
1950s, says ‘Though few people realised it at the tim&éls years as
an insular, self-contained community had ended, and the teag jet-
propelled into the 20th century.’

During its first 30 years, the company produced 24 million car
heaters. It diversified into various groups: as wellhescar heater plant
there were Smith’s Hydraulics, which came to Witney in 197
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Precision Fans, which started in 1967 and made fans for diverse
items as air conditioning units and photocopying machines.

All this industrial expansion meant that new housing was usgent
needed. The first new estate was built by the Windrush Valtysing
Association in the 1950s, to cater for the newly imported labour f
Smith’s Industries. This was not a popular move with somiefold-
established residents, who found it hard to accept so manyomans
all at once.

An industry that provided numerous jobs in Witney was Boveyer’
(Wiltshire) Ltd, which operated a factory in Corn &t Its origins go
back to Percy Bartlett, who made his own sausages on hisMgguare
premises between 1928 and 1933. After selling his shop he hadla sma
factory built at 79 High Street, and another in Gloucestace?|He
started to act as distributor for Brazil's (of Amexsh) Bucks) cooked
meat, and this larger company bought him out in 1934. Brdmifls the
Corn Street works in 1947, and was itself taken over by Bosvye
1970. Later Bowyer’s was taken over by Northern Foods, which closed
its Witney branch in 1990.

R.A.Jones, Est 184Bpecialised in cabinet making, upholstery and house cleafEme
firm is still in business though on a different site imC8treet. The cottages on the
right were demolished in the 1960s to make way for HolloReagd. (CW)
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Witney’s modern expansion dates from the early 1950s. Theasit w
a small market town of under 6,000 people, relying on one industry.
Now, the population has grown to 22,000, and is still growinthofgh
Smith’s Industries has departed with the decline in theres of the car
industry, many new enterprises have sprung up in several destiial
estates, some of which, appropriately, have been set upddriaviket
mill premises.

The ‘Elizabethan House’ drawn by W. Seely, c1850

Richard Berry Hobbs' glass and china shop in the Elizabetpuse
with the Witney Coffee Tavern opposite, 1887. (OCL)
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The Corn Returns Office on the site of the present Corhdbhge which was built
1856, drawn by W. Seely.

These buildings south of the Corn Returns Office have fidveen demolished
Drawn by W. Seely.
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Continental style dining comes to Witney (CG)

The Woolgate shopping centre built in 1986 (CG)
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EPILOGUE

In October 1945 the Witney Debating Society met at the Toalh H
to try to answer the question, ‘Whither Witney?’ pose&y.B. Mais in
anOxford Mailarticle of 10 September.

Members’ hopes for the future were fairly modest and ertljnen
practical. One said that the bus company should organise ssgoock,
with buses fitting in for transport around the district. fEhghould be ‘a
good bus centre, for passengers and staff. He thought thatrdin
service by diesel train would be useful. The town also neadéadoor
swimming bath and washing bath’, and a public library and reading
room. Catering establishments should serve more ‘good, hanesiry
food’, and the market should be open daily to sell farodpee. Another
member spoke up for an adequate housing scheme, light industries,
proper sewerage, adequate entertainment, playgrounds, énachlth
centre.

Now, in the 21st century, there is no longer a Witney Debating
Society, though there is no shortage of opinions or chawcespress
them. The transport-minded member would probably be pleaisedne
buses now, for there are frequent double-decker and minibuiseseto
Oxford, linking with coaches to London and many other citiexal
minibuses connect the town centre with the outlying estatesiages.
The ‘good bus centre’ has not materialised, however. Athéotrains, it
is a long time since 1962, when the passenger service wasvdsigats
— and some younger residents — must wonder why there is @nStatie
but no station.

The dream of an indoor swimming pool has come true, withrest,
at the Windrush Leisure Centre, which opened in 1975. dtrhany
other attractions too, including a sports hall, squash fosrtooker
room, fitness studio, artificial turf pitch, bar and café ‘washing bath’,
but who needs one nowadays?

The public library on the 1960s Welch Way development, with its
children’s section, reading room and computer facilitiebargdy for the
town centre. Nearby there are two health centres, andagemmunity
hospital, opened in April 1981. Both the Fire Station and thé&dol
Station can be found just down the road, too.
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‘Good honest country food' is certainly available to the riét
diner-out at various restaurants and public houses, assveibdern fast
food and more sophisticated international dishes. In additicane are
Italian, Thai, Chinese and Indian restaurants, a hapdsdictable
development in insular post-war Witney. The market is atily twice
weekly, however. There is also a Farmers’ Market thagbriresh local
meat, fish, bread and vegetables to the town centre, looimes just
once a month, which would not please the 1945 debaters. It Wweuld
interesting to know how they would react to the enormousgshan
shopping facilities and habits in the town today, when sogetets
belonging to huge chains display kinds and quantities of fodslstuf
beyond the wildest dreams of the 1945 housewife, dominated by
shortages and rationing. A large new shopping complex centred on
Waitrose has been built on the old burgage plots near tinelréh,
where Witney citizens once grew cabbages and kept pigs, and
Sainsbury’s occupies the old Mount Mill site on Station L.amgere so
many local workers used to produce their daily quotalarikets.

The traditional Thursday and Saturday markets do still geoa
much-appreciated service to people in the town and the surngundi
villages. On those days, the Welch Way, Waitrose andsBairy’'s car
parks, which are large, open and free of charge, are patkedcar
owners make for the market, the supermarkets, the banks apdhiie
houses. In the days when opening hours were restricted, pskedalthe
market were allowed to stay open until 4 o’clock on madesfts others
had to close at 2.30. So, although the market is quiad, strhas always
played an important part in the life of the town.

Light industry, not exactly flourishing in the town in 1945, has
expanded over the years. There are industrial estates: one dtetbe s
the old railway station, others on Bridge Street, West Ealpld Eagle
Brewery land and more on the outskirts. Sewerage, a wooye of the
1945 speakers, seems to be under control, though the serious flwoding
many parts of Witney in 2007, after exceptional rainstorras, daused
concern to the Council and the public.

The 1945 debater who was concerned about housing would be glad
to find that a large number of estates have been lmoth Council and
private. Witney is scheduled as a ‘growth town’ by thesWWexfordshire
District Council. The population in 1945 was under 6,000; now fnear t
end of the first decade of the32c1entury, it is over 23,000 and expected
to continue rising. At the time of writing, work hasgoe on an
ambitious (and controversial) new development at Marri@tase, the
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old football ground. As well as homes, shops belonging to press
national chains are to be built; old-established local buséisesire
already feeling the effect. Change is on the way, anck tase mixed
opinions and reactions among Witney people.

Nothing very startling has happened on the entertainmenesc
There are plenty of public houses, but then there always. Warious
clubs and societies cater for many age-groups, interestssports,
though perhaps no more than there were in the self-suffid¢i@40s.
There are sports fields, children’s playgrounds and hemdid courts.
Dances, concerts by local choirs and musicians, asasgbod amateur
drama productions, take place at the Corn Exchange andatigdéle
Hall, but the Palace Cinema, after years of struggle, iha#yf closed
down and turned into a night club and fitness studio. A cinema is
planned for the Marriotts Close development, and meanweCorn
Exchange provides a venue for well-attended regular film shows

Town twinning has come to Witney: its opposite numbezd_a
Touquet on the coast of Northern France and Unterhaclmegr
Munich. Interesting cultural and social events are osgahbetween the
towns, and school students benefit from exchange visits. On
Remembrance Sunday in November, the watching crowds on IChurc
Green are moved to see representatives of the twin tewngreaths on
the War Memorial beside those of the Witney organisations.

Foreign travel has grown in importance in Witnesgt as it has
everywhere else. Less beguiling is the traffic queue tiis its way
along the A40 to and from Oxford every morning and evening. In 1945,
S.P.B. Mais wrote, ‘about 150 men go to Oxford daily, torti$ and
elsewhere’. This is staggering news to the many hundfguesent-day
commuters. What would the forward-looking post-war debaten if
they could join them on the evening rush home? They would probably
approve of the by-pass, but might be startled at firshéygheer size and
scope of the town as seen from Oxford Hill. Traffic lgfhtBig new
estates? A speed camera? What's that? Better slow. dBuwithe view
of the town serenely spread out before you is still a cdmépone after
a hard day, and as old Witneans (or Witneyites, a$ pemple say) they
would still recognise the very special town they livednd &ved.
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80,94,96
Eynsham
21,29,30,52,83,85
Abbey ............ 21,72
Abbot of ............ 21
Fairs .............. 22,23,77
Fairford .................. 86
Farnham ............... 101
Fawler .................... 92
Feast, Witney ......... 77
Fermor, Thomas ......111
Field House ............. 73
Fifield .............ee..o. 29

Fire Service 105,106,107
Fire Station 105,106,108
Flying shuttle
Football Club, Witney 80

Foxley Norris, Rev ....78

Freeland .............. 29,30
Freeland charity 29,30.31



Freind, Rev Robert
40,62,70

Friends, Society of ....69

fulling mills 20,21,47,48

fulling stocks ............ 58
Gardener, William ..... 32
George, John ........... 52
German aircraft ........ 94

German POWs ........ /94
Gilbert's Act, 1782 ....33
Giles,Rev. Dr. JH 18,77

Gillett

Alfred ............. 113

Charles ............ 113

William ........... 120
(C10]| A, 80
Goole, John BA ....... 37
Grain, price of .......... 92
Gray, Lord .............. 91
Great Western Railway

86,87

Green, Elizabeth ....... 29
Gregory

Dr Francis .......... 69

Thomas ............. 69

Grocers Company 37,38
Gunne, William ....... 69
Gunne family ..... 93,112

Haines, Thomas ...... 120

Hampton Gay .......... 91
Harcourt

Earl of ............. 58

John (gent) ......... 91
Harris

Ada Leonora ....... 11

Charles ............. 11

John ................ 69

Maria ........coeeees 11

Paul ................. 51
Hart

John ...........ceeell 69

Kester ............... 69
Hartley,Clarke ........ 114
Hartshorn, Daniel ......32
Haynes,James .......... 30
Hayter, Mr .............. 94
Henry Ltd ............. 118
High Cogges ............ 40

Hill, The ................. 42
History of Witney
13,18,77
Hobbes, Richard Berry
126
Holloway, John
28,33,39,40
Holway Grange ......... 29
Home Guard......... 96,98
Howes,William ......,.49
Hudson's Bay Co 48,52
Hundred Rolls 22,23,77
Hurricanes ............... 97

Independents ........ 69,70
Indians, North American

48
Inns & public houses

Angel ................ 81
Black Horse ....... 81
Blue Boar .......... 83
Bull .....ccvvven. 81
Chequers .......... 120
Court ..oovvvneennnn. 83
Crown Hotel 85,87
Czar of Russia .....93
Eagle .............. 120
Fleece ........ 117,128

House of Windsor 94
King of Prussia ...93
King's Head ....... 83
Lamb, Crawley ..120
Marlborough Arms
83,113
Red Lion .......... 124
Staple Hall ....34,51,
52,83,88,89,101
Strickland Arms
Ducklington ...... 120
White Hart 42,80,93

Iron Age ............. 13,14
Jacksons Oxford Journal
114
James, Henry ........... 29
Jerram, Charles ......... 65
Jones, RA. ............ 125
Jousts ..., 77
Jubilee plaque ........... 44
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Kay, John ............... 56
Kelly's Directory 1881
120
Kings
Canute ............... 19
Charles | ........ 92,93
Edgar ............ 13,17
Edward Confessor
18,19
Edward IV .......... 31
Edward VI .......... 23
Ethelred the Unready
19
George V ......... 122
Hardicanute ........ 19
Henry Il
21.22,47,77
John ............. 22,26
Stephen ......... 20,91
Keller, Sir Godfrey ....58
Langdale Hall
95,100,131
Langley Common ....109
Langley .............. 17,22
Lea, Samuel ............114
Lea Leigh,Alfred ..... 114
Lechlade ................. 86
Leigh
Family ............. 114
Thomas ........... 114
&Sons............ 127
Lenthall, William 23,93
Le Touquet ............ 131
Levellers ................ 93
Leys, The ...... 62,76,77
95,123
Local Boards .......... 102
Local Defence
Volunteers .............. 97
Local government
101,102
Local Government Act
1863 ..ooiiiieennns 102

London & North
Western Railway ...... 86

Long, James ........... 117
Long Parliament .......23
Longworth .............. 37



Loom
Hand ...... 56,61,115
Power ..........55,115
Lords,House of ........ 49
Madhouse ......... 73,114

Mais,S.P.B. ......129,131
Market, Thursday ......23
Marlborough, Duke of 24
Marriott family ..... 52,53

Marriotts Close ...80,130

Martin, John ............ 29
Mather, Rev Samuel69
Maud, Richard ......... 64
Merchandise Marks Act

53
Methodists ........... 70,71
Middle Ward ......... 101
Milestone ............... 83
Mills

Bridge Street
57,78,105,116
Butter Cross Works

53

Charles Early and
Marriott .............. 53
Collier’s ............. 54
Farm Mill ...20,114
Fawler .............. 92
New Mill 51,79,116
Walker’s ........... 53
William Smith

53,115
Witney Mill

20,61,107,115
Woodford Mill ...18
Millin’s Yard ......... 106
Minchin, Thomas ....69
Monk, Rev W.J.
13,19,64,78,105
Mop Fair ............... 79
Mop-making ...... 48,106
Morris Catrs ...... 125,131
Mount House ........... 86
Napoleonic War ........ 51
National School

Movement .............. 41
Natural History Society
79

Neolithic ................ 14

Newland ........ 21,40,60
85,89,107

Warehouse ....... 116
Newlands,Eynsham ...21
Newsham, Yorks ......20
Newtown, lIoW ....... 101

Nonconformists

41,69,70,93,102
Norman Conquest ..... 91

Normans ............. 19,91
Northern Foods ....... 125
Northleach ............... 83
North Leigh ......... 15,91
Northumberland,

Duke of .......cceenenes 23
Norton, Silas ........... 69

Oelfhelm, thegn
13,17,19
Oriel College, Oxford 37
Oxford
29,30,32,83,92,93,113,
116,124,129,131
Oxfordshire and
Buckinghamshire Light
Infantry .................. 97
Oxford Canal ........... 85
Oxford Mail ...... 97,129
Oxford,Worcester &
Wolverhampton Railway

86
Oxford University Golf
Club ccviiiiiii, 81
Palmer, John ............ 29
Parkinson, John ......... 69
Parliament .............. 22
Parmo, Thomas ........ 30
Partridge, James ...... 64
Paternoster............ 69
Ward ................ 101
Payne (carrier) ....... 124
Penn, William ......... 69
Penny family ......... 112
Philips Yorkshire blanket
company ................ 53

Pickersgill, Miss ....... 80
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Piggotts
Directory,(1823)
117
Pike house, Church Lane
84
Plague ................... 23
Plot, Dr Robert ......... 50

Plummer, Alfred ...48,51
Police Station

96,100,116
Poor Laws ......... 29,102
Portuguese workers
72,94
Prayer Book Rebels ...91
Presbyterians ........... 70
Pritchard’s Glove Works
107
Protestants .............. 69
Quakers ............. 69,70
Queens
Anne .............49,58

Elizabeth the
Queen Mother .....39

Emma............... 19
Mary ... 23
Matilda,

Empress ........ 20,91
RAF ..o, 97
Randolph Hotel ....... 116
Rectory ..........coeeeee. 62
Repertory Company ...80
Restoration ............. 23
Rifle Corps ............. 93
Riot Act ................. 92
Rochester, Earl of ..... 24
Rodda, Richard ........ 70

Roddy, Father John ...72
Roman Catholics ...42,72
Romans ......... 14,15,18
Rowe, John ............ 80
Royal Flying Corps ...94
Royal Ordinance Papers

92
Royal Pipe Rolls of 1179

47
Royalists ............ 92,93

Rylands & Sons ....... 53



Saltmarsh & Druce
80,123

Savory, Thomas ...... 30

Saxons ....... 13,18,19,27

63,91
Saxon Charter ......... 17
Schools
Ashford Grammar
96
Batt School 42,54 96
Blue Coat
33,39,40,41,52
Dame school,
Bridge St ........... 52

Grammar School
...... 29,37,38,40,43,
44, 45,70,96,112
Henry Box.33,39,62,
95,100,105
National School,
Bridge Street ...41,42
Church Green 40, 93
Our Lady of
Lourdes 41,72
Quaker Schoal ....41
St Mary’s ...... 40,46
Technical School 38
Wesleyan School
41,43,45
Wesleyan
Sunday School .....41
West End
(Anglican) ..........40
Wood Green....... 39
Sharpe, Elizabeth ..... 29
Sheep ..coovvvvveeinnn. a7
Sheppard, Thomas ....29
Shillingford Brothers

120
Shipton ................. 29
Smith,
Edgar ............. 119
Henry .............. 52
Herbert ........... 106

Humphrey ....63,64
William 41,52,57,78
106,116,119
Smith’s
Blankets ....... 44,53

Estate ............... 22
Hydraulics........ 125
Industries
94,125,126
Mills ............... 106
Smithman, Edward ....78
Sopwith Pups .......... 94
South Leigh ....... 70,113
Spitfires ................. 97
Spittle, Richard ........ 32
Stanton Harcourt ...14,80
Staple & Lea ......... 114

Staple Hall 35,51,83,101
Station 60,86,87,128.129

Steeplechases .......... 78

Steere, Barth........... 91
John .........ceeen. 91

Stonesfield ......... 40,64

Streets,etc
Bridge Street 40,44,
52,53,93,115,117,
131
Burford Road ...... 77
Church Green
33,34,37,40,41,62,72
77,78,80,95,100,101
104,118,130
Church Lane ....... 84
The Crofts 18,53,103
Corn Street ....18,23,
32,54,74,79,81,83
101,102,103,114,
120,121,125
Crown Lane ....... 21
Curbridge Road
42,72,79
Deer Park Road ...22
Downs Road ........ 81
Duck Alley...... 18,26
Gloucester Place 125
High Street 39,40,51,
71,75,80,101,103,
106,114,125
Highworth Place 100
The Hill ....... 42,113
Holloway Road 125
Langdale Gate
21,87
Market Place 70,101
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Market Square
80,120,121,122,125
Marlborough Lane
69,74,115
Meeting House
Lane ............. 69,74
Mill Street ....97,116
Narrow Hill ........ 40
Oxford Hill ...84,131
Queen Emma’s
Dyke .......ceneee 19
Tower Hill ...33,114
Welch Way 105,131
West End
11,22,40,61,81
86,93,96,101
102,112,114
115,118,131
Wood Green
39,55,65,67,68
69,71,78,86,95
102,112,118
Woodstock Road
67,80
Street, George E ...... 64
Strickland, Walter ..... 87
Swinford Toll Bridge 85
Swimming pools

77,82,130
Tarrant & Sons
117,118,125
William ......... 1179,
Taunton ............... 101
Technical College .....42
Temperance
Hotel ............ 75,79
Societies ............ 79
Temple Guiting ........ 20
Tenters .............. 48,58
Thames......... 49,85,86
Valley............... 13
Thames & Severn Canal
86
Theatre .............. 79,80
Threfts .oooovvvvinnn .. 30
Tiger Moths ............ 96
Timson, Mr ............ 85
Tite's, Messrs .......... 80



Toll house, West End 86

Tomson, George ....... 29
Tournaments ........... 77
Townsend, William
34,35
Trade Commissioners
48,49
Tyrie, James ............ 30
Unterhaching .......... 131
Up-towns ................ 78
Urban District Council
103,104
Valentine & Barrell ..118
Vestry ...oooveeieninne 102
Victory in Europe Day
98
Waitrose ......... 118,131

Walker's (Yorkshire
blanket company) ......53

Waller, General ...... 93
War Memorial ......... 95
Ward Beyond the Bridge
101
Warfordsleigh .......... 22
Warring family ......... 93

Warrington, Mr ...... 117
Water tower ..... 103,104
Wellington, Duke of 51
Wenman

Chapel ............... 40

Family ............... 91

Richard ............ 111
Wesley, John ...70,71,85
Wesleyans .......... 64,79
Westminster ............ 22
West Oxfordshire
College .............. 18,42
West Oxfordshire
District Council ...... 131
West Ward ............ 101

Whitlock, Elisha ...... 49
Wilkinson
George ........ 33,114
William

28,33,34,73,105
114,115

Williams, George ....118
Wilmot, Edward 111,112
Winchester,
Bishops of
29,47,63,77,78,91,

Alfwine ............ 18
Blois, Henry of 20,91
Gardiner ............ 23
Ponet, John .........23
Roches, Peter des 20,
21,63,101
Stigand ............. 20
Trelawney, Sir
Jonathan ............ 62
Winchester Cathedral 19
Windrush
River 13,14,15,17,18
20,21,47,48,49,
65,78,82,85,86,
100,108,131
Valley .............. 103
Valley Estate
Valley Housing
Association ...... 119

Witney Blanket
Company .......... 53,118
Witney Blanket Industry
48
Witney Gazette 31,78,80
94,104,106
Witney
Chess Club ......... 79
Debating Society 129
Dramatic Society 80
Railway Company

Witney Trips 76,78,

78
Witta ... 13,17
Wwitenie ..........o.oo.el 20

Women'’s
Institute .............. 96
Voluntary service 96
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Wood, Dr William

Dyson .......cc.oc.ee. 104
Woodstock ......... 22,93
Woolgate .............. 123

Woollen industry 47-53
Workhouse 31,32,33,116

World War |
78,93,100,104
World War Il ...... 80,87,
95-99,114,117,
119,131
Worsham Waterworks
104
Wright, John ............ 40
Wychwood Forest
13,22,77
Yates
Family ............. 112
Robert ................ 66
Yarnton ................. 86

Young, Arthur 48,51,83



